Malnutrition among Indigenous Batwa in Southwestern Uganda

by

Jeffery Charles Sauer

A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of B.A. Honors in Geography

Department of Geography McGill University Montreal (Quebec) Canada

April 2016

© Jeffery Charles Sauer

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This research would not be possible without the participation and information shared by the Batwa and Bakiga communities of Kanungu District, Uganda: Buhoma, Byumba, Bikuto, Karehe, Kitahuria, Kihembe, Kebiremu, Mukongoro, Rulangala, and Kitariro. It has been my highest honor and privilege to be trusted with just a part of the expansive research conducted by the international "Indigenous Health and Adaptation to Climate Change (IHACC)" lab (www.ihacc.ca).

I would like to extend a thank you to my supervisor, Dr. Lea Berrang-Ford, for taking a chance on me and always holding me accountable to new levels of academic and intellectual maturity. I would like to thank Ms. Kaitlin Patterson at the University of Guelph for selflessly offering so much of her time to answer questions while also in the midst of pursuing her own PhD. I would also like to thank my reader, Dr. Nancy Ross, who played an integral role in moving me towards a career in health science and starting an ongoing conservation about my identity as a person living with disease. Thank you to Mr. Didacus Namanya at the Ugandan Ministry of Health for sitting down with me early in the project and all the insight you have provided since our first meeting. Thank you to Sierra Clark for providing so many starting materials and acting as an upper-year student role model that I could look up to. Thank you to all the present and past IHACC team members (Dr. Blanaid Donnelly, Margot Charette, and Michelle Maillet) who I have reached out to over time with questions big and small – all your answers contributed pieces to this puzzle of a thesis.

Thank you to Joey for always providing the motivation I needed to work harder.

To my Mom and Dad – thank you for never giving up on me through all the lows.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

List of Figures	4
List of Tables	5
Abstract	6
Chapter 1: Introduction	7
1.1 Why malnutrition matters	7
1.2 Research setting of the Batwa and Bakiga in Southwest Uganda	9
1.3 Research motivations and questions	9
Chapter 2: Background	11
2.1 What is malnutrition?	11
2.2 Types of malnutrition	11
2.3 Health impacts of malnutrition	12
2.4 Global distribution of malnutrition	14
2.5 Indigeneity in Africa	14
2.6 Inequalities in vulnerable populations: Indigenous malnutrition	15
Chapter 3: Methods	15
3.1 Study population: The Batwa of southwestern Uganda	18
3.2 Study design	19
3.3 Measuring malnutrition and food security	20
3.4 Measuring Indigeneity	24
3.5 Data analysis	25
3.6 Using multilevel modeling to unpack a health gradient	27
Chapter 4: Results	32
4.1 Malnutrition among Batwa and Bakiga	32
4.2 Unpacking the malnutrition gradient	35
Chapter 5: Discussion	39
5.1 Comparison of Batwa malnutrition to	
national, regional, and global prevalence rates	39
5.2 Does 'pygmy' status matter? Genetic determinants of malnutrition	41
5.3 Why ethnicity matters: social gradients in health	43
5.4 Conclusions	46
Reference List	48
Appendix A: Multilevel logit regression results for MAM outcomes	61
Appendix B: Multilevel logit regression results for SAM outcomes	62
Appendix C: Smoothed MUAC percentile OLS regression results (variables of interest)	63
Appendix D: Logit MAM status regression results (variables of interest)	63
Appendix E: MUAC average by community	64

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Visualization of hierarchical data structure used in multilevel model.

Figure 2. Comparison of Batwa and Bakiga MUAC means across population strata

Figure 3. Visual breakdown of variance (values pulled from Table 3 "Model Four")

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. IMAMG MAM and SAM MUAC Cutoff Guidelines

Table 2. Age- and sex- specific prevalence of MAM and SAM for the Bakiga and Batwa of SWUganda, April 2014

Table 3. Multilevel mixed regression results for Batwa and Bakiga malnutrition

Table 4. Table comparing socioeconomic and health indicators of the Batwa and Bakiga (adapted from numerous sources, see citations as well as X and Y)

ABSTRACT

Both the Millennium Development Goals and Sustainable Development Goals stress a need for global improvement in regards securing adequate nutrition and reducing malnutrition. However, addressing malnutrition as a global health concern requires a better understanding of how malnutrition affects already vulnerable populations, especially Indigenous peoples. Using both descriptive statistical reporting and multilevel modeling, this study seeks to document and explore the burden of malnutrition for the Indigenous Batwa and non-Indigenous Bakiga of Southwestern Uganda from data collected in 2014. Malnutrition is high in among both Batwa children and adults, with all Batwa population age-sex groupings meeting WHO 'critical' rates ($\geq 15\%$). In contrast, none of the Bakiga age-sex groupings meet 'critical' malnutrition rates. Multilevel modeling, using individual, household, community, and community ethnicity characteristics as levels, demonstrated a strong explanatory power for community ethnicity in malnutrition clustering in this study. This research offers not only useful information about the prevalence and patterning of malnutrition among the Batwa and Bakiga of Southwestern Uganda, but also places this unequal disease burden in a larger discussion around health inequalities that emerge along ethnic lines and the intervenable global health concern that is malnutrition.

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1 Introduction: why malnutrition matters

Securing adequate nutrition and reducing infant and childhood malnutrition is a global health concern. Contemporary efforts attempting to address or discuss this issue are marked by the Millennium Development Goals (MDGs), a series of 8 global goals led by the United Nations (UN) Millennium Declaration in pursuit of securing the basic human rights of each person. MDG Goal 1 sought to eradicate extreme hunger and poverty (1). As the timelines for the MDGs concluded in 2015, the global commitment to fighting hunger was renewed with the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). SDG Goal 1 (Eradicate Extreme Hunger and Poverty) as well as Goals 4 and 5 (Reduce Child Mortality and Improve Maternal Health) are the renewed global commitments relating to the health and wellbeing of populations most at risk of suffering serious health issues and death from malnutrition and malnutrition related illnesses (2). The majority of people on earth remain at an increased risk to a variety of health issues both broad and specific, manifesting itself in forms ranging from every day hunger to an increased risk of congenital abnormalities and birth complications during pregnancy (2, 3). These health issues are intimately connected to social determinants, including education, gender, quality of environment, and wealth (4). Academic literature between 2000 and 2010 increased 40-fold on the topics of food and nutrition (5); despite this, the 2015 MDG report offers a global snapshot that highlights persistence of childhood malnutrition with observed increases in certain low- to middle-income regions, the overwhelming majority of which are located in Africa and Asia (6).

In addition to social determinants associated with gender and wealth, another shift in health outcomes follows the colonial, political and contested line drawn between Indigenous and non-Indigenous peoples (7). Health disparities have been observed between Indigenous and nonIndigenous populations globally. Indigenous population's health outcomes are contextually unique, varying with the group's history of colonization, livelihood disruption, forced removal, or ethnic discrimination (8, 9, 10, 11). Although there exists a variety of health disparities for Indigenous peoples across the globe, the majority of research examining Indigenous health occurs in countries with developed health tracking capabilities, such as Australia, Canada, New Zealand, and the United States (12, 13, 14).

Indigenous peoples in Africa have a population of around 250 million and experience some of the poorest health indicators in the world (9, 15). Of articles with the keywords "Indigenous" and "Health" in Web of Knowledge searches, fewer than 3% of retrieved articles were related to Indigenous health in Africa (16). The African Commission on Human and Peoples' Rights has articulated since 2005 that Indigenous peoples are among the most vulnerable groups on the African continent. Differing and disputed understandings of Indigeneity throughout the African continent leads to insecure Indigenous rights where Indigenous peoples receive limited attention and are left in a precarious health situation (15). The years 2004-2006 were notable for the multinational commitments to the rights of Indigenous peoples - from widely cited African Commission on Human and Peoples' Rights (ACHPR) reports to the United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples – yet uncertainty persists as to the full implementation and recognition of Indigenous rights across the globe (17, 18). Although the Food and Agriculture Organization's (FAO) 2015 The State of Food Insecurity in the World and the World Health Organization's (WHO) 2015 Levels and trends in child malnutrition report an increase in the number of undernourished individuals and wasting in children for the region of Sub-Saharan Africa, there exists only a handful of researchers working with Indigenous peoples to track, understand, and develop contextually-sensitive interventions to improve health outcomes.

1.2 Research setting of the Batwa and Bakiga in Southwestern Uganda

This research is situated among the Indigenous Batwa pygmies (also known as the Abayanda or Twa) and non-Indigenous Bakiga located in southwestern Uganda. After eviction from the forest in 1991 for the creation of Bwindi Impenetrable National Park, Batwa communities lost access to customary foods and experienced a detrimental shift in livelihoods (8, 19). Past studies of Indigenous populations of Africa and abroad demonstrate higher rates of infectious and chronic disease, higher occurrence of mental illness, as well as higher rates of morality and shorter life expectancy when compared to non-Indigenous populations (9, 20, 21).

My research is a component of a larger research program, the Indigenous Health and Adaptation to Climate Change (IHACC) research group, who have been working with the Batwa in the district of Kangunu since 2009, as well as parallel research with Indigenous communities in the Canadian Arctic and Peruvian Amazon. From 2013 to 2014, the IHACC research team conducted census and partial population samples collecting individual and household level data across 10 matched Batwa and Bakiga communities. Previous research conducted by IHACC team members in the Batwa and Bakiga communities demonstrated marked differences in occurrence and experience of Indigenous and non-Indigenous populations for acute gastrointestinal illness (AGI) and malaria (5, 22, 23).

1.3 Research motivations and questions

In this thesis, I seek to characterize the burden of malnutrition in Indigenous Batwa communities, and compare these findings to malnutrition indicators among the neighboring non-Indigenous (Bakiga) communities. There are several motivations for this research. The first and foremost point of this thesis is to draw attention to the severe burden of malnutrition among Indigenous Batwa in Uganda. Secondly, this thesis uses comparisons between the Batwa and

Bakiga to argue that malnutrition among the Batwa can be understood as an Indigenous health disparity. Lastly, although this research contextualizes the Indigenous Batwa and non-Indigenous Bakiga of southwestern Uganda in a global discussion of Indigenous health disparities, specifically in regards to malnutrition and food insecurity, this research seeks to unpack whether the drivers of these disparities come from differences in local context or local composition.

The overarching thematic question of this thesis asks if, how, and why malnutrition varies between two neighboring but socially distinct populations. To explore this question, the thesis is broken up into several chapters that revolve around specific sub-questions and objectives. Chapter 2, *Background*, provides a literature review of the global burden of malnutrition and synthesizes existing statistics on malnutrition in the Batwa and Bakiga to situate them in the global discussion of hunger-related health issues. Chapters 3, Methods, explains both the study design and empirical methods integral to this study. Chapter 4, Results, presents the different rates of malnutrition among the Batwa and Bakiga (Objective 1), as well as an interpretation of the models results (Objective 2). Chapter 5, *Discussion*, concludes the thesis with a review of relevant literature to contextualize these results and assess possible mechanisms causing inequality (Objective 3). The chapter begins with a comparison of Batwa and Bakiga malnutrition rates to globally observed rates. Following the global comparison, I assess the literature surrounding 'pygmy' populations to examine the extent to which genetic versus social determinants could play a role in driving ethnic gradients in malnutrition. The conclusion section of Chapter 5 reviews the work of the thesis and speculates on which possible mechanisms offer the most hope for intervention.

Chapter 2: Background - Malnutrition of the Batwa in a Global Perspective

2.1 What is malnutrition?

Malnutrition can refer to multiple nutritional related states of the human body, mainly *under*nutrition and *over*nutrition (24). Hereafter, I will refer to malnutrition as the deficiency of nutrition (i.e. *under*nutrition) unless stated otherwise. The causes of malnutrition vary, but most are related to a poor and inconsistent diet or severe and repeated infections (24). Observing clinical signs of malnutrition are highly variable, depending on both the context of the population under inspection and the proficiency of the on-site researcher or clinician (25). There are numerous ways to identify malnutrition, including biochemical tests (assessing amino acid imbalance, serum albumin levels, blood vitamin levels, hydroxyproline excretion, and urinary creatinine levels) (25), tissue tests (e.g. examination of hair root morphology) (26), and anthropometry (measuring the human body to estimate the nutritional status). One or more of these methods may be combined to assess malnutrition in a clinical or field setting.

2.2 Types of malnutrition: moderate and severe

Malnutrition is an essential indicator of nutritional status and health at the individual level, especially in children under five (27). Malnutrition assessment methods are used to diagnose multiple clinical manifestations of nutrient deficiency, which can be broken down into either protein-energy malnutrition or micronutrient deficiency diseases (including iron deficiency, Vitamin A deficiency, Iodine deficiency, and Zinc deficiency). In this thesis, I focus on two submeasures of acute protein-energy malnutrition: moderate acute malnutrition (MAM) and severe acute malnutrition (SAM). Although MAM and SAM categorizations change with age, sex, and population contexts, MAM and SAM are most commonly identified when an individual has a weight-for-height indicator or anthropometric measurement substantially lower than international or reference populations (24, 25). However, comparing a given population's indicators to normalized international populations can be problematic when the given population is experiencing extreme duress.

MAM increases the vulnerability of children to infection or lifelong problems from common pediatric illnesses like pneumonia or diarrheal diseases with the potential to compromise physical and intellectual development (28-30). SAM manifests in wasting (severe loss of body fat and muscle tissue) and or oedema (severe lack of protein in the body that leads to an accumulation of fluids under the skin, especially in the lower legs and ankles). These conditions put children at severe risk for common infectious diseases and death, accounting for at least 10% of deaths among children under five worldwide (nearly all of these deaths occurring in low-income and middle-income countries) (31-33).

2.3 Health impacts of malnutrition in adolescence and adulthood

Because malnutrition reduces the body's ability to activate and propagate immune cells, the nutritive status of the body often directly relates to the outcome of common illnesses such as diarrheal illnesses, acute respiratory infections, malaria, and other common immunizable diseases (34, 96). The individual health impacts of malnutrition in adolescents are complex, varying with the age, size and contextual health of each child (31, 35). Due to this synergism and its accentuated impact on children, modified relative risk calculations are necessary when estimating the effect of malnutrition on overall child morality of a population (34). Children under the age of 5 who experience untreated MAM and SAM have long-term consequences on their adult height, cognitive ability, economic productivity, reproductive performance, daily quality of life as well as increased likelihood to develop metabolic and cardiovascular diseases (35 - 37). Adolescents with MAM are also at a greater risk of deteriorating into SAM, which poses severe health impacts, such

as irreversible stunting and disabilities, as well as death (35-36). In adults, malnutrition poses its greatest threat to ensuring safe deliveries, where the undernutrition of pregnant women can lead to lower offspring birthweight (a risk factor for high glucose concentrations, unstable blood pressure, and harmful lipid profiles) (38). In non-pregnant and non-nursing adults, malnutrition compromises immunocompetence, thus reducing the ability of cell-mediated immunity to protect the body from common and infectious diseases (39-41).

2.4 Global distribution of malnutrition

Estimates from the Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) 2015 report, The State of Food Insecurity in the World, estimate that globally 795 million people are undernourished (6). Although the global estimates have decreased since 1990 (6), wide and uneven differences among regions continue to exist. While many regions have made positive strides, some lower income regions, specifically Sub-Saharan Africa, Eastern Africa, Middle Africa, Southern Asia and Western Asia, have seen increases in their absolute number of undernourished individuals, population prevalence of undernourishment and percent share of global undernourishment (6). The WHO's 2015 Levels and trends in child malnutrition reports that there are an estimated 159 million children affected by stunting and 50 million children affected by wasting, both adverse health outcomes from undernourishment (42). Additionally, the WHO reports that there are an estimated 41 million overweight children (42). Both the WHO and FAO report highlight the global unevenness in childhood malnutrition (i.e. both under and overnutrition) (42). All WHO-defined sub regions of Africa, Southern Asia, Southeastern Asia and Oceania have levels of adolescent wasting that are approaching a public health emergency (defined as a "Serious" public health crisis at 10% of the population and a "Critical" public health crisis at or greater than 15% of the population) (42). Moreover, global increases in childhood overnutrition have led to growing

scholarship on the double burden of malnutrition, where populations in lower- and middle-income countries of Africa and Asia face higher levels of disease burden as they encounter the adverse health effects of persistently high levels of *under*nutrition combined with rising levels of overnutrition (5, 42 - 44).

2.5 Indigeneity in Africa

There are numerous understandings of what is reflected in the term 'Indigeneity' and Indigenous identity (15, 98, 99, 100). The African Commission on Human and Peoples' Rights (ACHPR) defines Indigenous groups in Africa as those whose: 1) cultures and ways of life differ considerably from the national majority, 2) cultures and ways of life that are, or historically have been, under threat (in some cases to the point of extinction), 3) survival depends on access and rights to traditional land and resources, 4) population suffers from discrimination due to being regarded as less developed and less advanced from the national majority, 5) the population typically lives in inaccessible regions (which also serves as a form of political and social marginalization), and 6) individuals are subject to domination and exploitation within structures suited to the interests and activities of the national majority (15, 98). The ACHPR also recognizes that Indigeneity in Africa is connected to a history and present-day violation of human rights as peoples and communities, which "prevents them from being genuinely able to participate in deciding their own future and forms of development" (15, 98).

There is a limited legislation protecting the rights of Indigenous peoples across the African continent (98). In 2010, the Republic of the Congo was the first to adopt a law for the "promotion and protection of indigenous peoples' rights" – the first of its kind for the continent (98, 101). For the rest of the continent, there is limited legislation and representation of Indigenous peoples', limiting Indigenous political power, agency in decision-making processes, or advocacy for their

own causes (98). Injustices frequently arise from land dispossession (105, 106), victimization due to violent conflicts (104), and sexual violence against Indigenous women (98, 102, 103). In Uganda, there is no core legislation and representation to recognize and protect Indigenous status. The Batwa of Kanungu District — or any other ethnicity or sub-population in Uganda — are thus not officially recognized by the state as an Indigenous population.

2.6 Inequalities in vulnerable populations: Indigenous health and malnutrition

Indigenous populations are more likely to experience poorer health status and higher burden of disease compared to non-Indigenous populations. Numerous reasons have been proposed as to why Indigeneity is an observable health gradient; these arguments are broadly organized around socio-political reasons (focusing on the consequences, past and ongoing, caused by the colonial process), the inadequacy of medicine-based health intervention (which fails to address Indigenous perspectives of holistic health), and the disruption of the life-course (whereby social determinants and physical environments put Indigenous peoples at risk as beginning with the gestation period) (46).

Beyond a few widely-cited seminal reports, there persists a distinct lack of representation of Indigenous health disparities in academic literature and multinational development agendas (8, 9). The lack of routinely collected, high-quality public health data collected on Indigenous peoples is a key gap in producing longitudinal knowledge and understanding about the status of Indigenous health (46). This lack of data is complex in both meaning and impact. The lack of routine infrastructure to collect such data has been criticized as part of broader normative practices that seek to exclude Indigenous populations from the colonizer's society (46), with implications for Indigenous health. Firstly, with poor data availability, there is an inability to quantify health issues and inequalities, thus leading to possible scenario where there is a lack of evidence of health inequalities when trying to change policy (46). Secondly, data-centric analysis is subject to misrepresentation when there is a lack of consultation with local Indigenous authorities, sometimes pushing locally insensitive solutions that exacerbate existing issues (46). Even when contemporary states take initiatives to establish Indigenous-specific or Indigenous-inclusive data efforts, the results are often less than what is accepted for the main population of the state. For example, Canada introduced the Aboriginal Peoples Survey in 1991, which sought to create a routine health-related specific to Aboriginal populations in Canada. Although it was a significant step forward, it still receives criticism for its incomplete list of all Aboriginal groups, lack of consistent sampling methodology across time, failure to include culturally relevant health measures (i.e. Indigenous holistic perspectives of health), and fundamental brevity compared to the primary surveys of Statistics Canada (46). While this example is Canada-specific, it is meant to serve highlight how post-Industrial states with existing census and public health infrastructure experience significant difficulty trying to establish, let alone measure, the health status of Indigenous peoples.

In regards to malnutrition, identifying literature explicitly related to quantifying the amount of *under*nutrition in a given Indigenous population can prove challenging. Several studies have identified Indigenous malnutrition gradients in adolescent stratifications of the population (47, 48) or incarcerated Indigenous individuals (49), with a few population-wide malnutrition assessments (50-52). However, examination of the existing literature revealed fewer post-colonial period studies on the malnutrition-related health status of Indigenous peoples in Africa. By reviewing and quantifying recent health data from the Batwa located in southwestern Uganda, I hope to draw attention to an observed Indigenous health gradient.

Although there is a necessary nuance to recognizing the different experiences of Indigenous peoples across the globe - to avoid harmful homogenization and stereotyping - a uniting link between many Indigenous peoples is the experience of discrimination and racism. These social exchanges have been explicitly linked to worse health outcomes (21, 53-55). The result of racism against Indigenous peoples manifests on multiple levels: systematic levels (i.e. negative ideologies and stereotypes around Indigeneity as the *other* in a colonial culture), institutional levels (i.e. inequitable access and structures required to support the healthy lives of Indigenous peoples), and individual experiences (i.e. higher levels of engagement in unhealthy activities, disengagement from health activities, and higher risk of physical injury due to racially motivated assault or isolation) (56, 57). Motivating this thesis is a desire to adapt this framework of multiple manifestations of discrimination to the situation of malnutrition in the Batwa.

Chapter 3: Methods

3.1 Study population: The Batwa of southwestern Uganda

The Batwa, also known as the Twa or Abatwa, are groups of people located throughout central Sub Saharan Africa (SSA) in the modern states of Angola, Botswana, Congo, Namibia, and Uganda (57, 58). The Batwa self-identify as Indigenous and are recognized as Indigenous by the local populations, although the Ugandan government has failed to follow ACHPR and international protocol in regards to the formal complaints submitted by the Batwa (107, 108, 109). This self-identified status is accompanied by an externally-imposed racial pejorative of 'Pygmy' by which the Batwa are frequently discriminated against (59). The Batwa's marginalization is not only social but also spatial. Beginning in the early 20th century with the gazetting of forest areas by colonial powers and continuing when independent states demarcated protected areas, the Batwa have experienced nearly a century of evictions from their forest homes and sustainable huntergatherer livelihoods (60, 61). When Bwindi was designated as a national park in 1991, the Batwa were no longer permitted to enter their forest homelands. Forced to live on the periphery of their former forest homes, integration of the Batwa into non-forest settings has been mixed. When compared to nearby non-Indigenous and non-Pygmy populations, the Batwa experience a range of poorer health outcomes and lower socioeconomic status (16, 22, 23, 75). Reports on the status of the Batwa indicate a high reliance on aid and missionary support – employment opportunities are limited and surviving on traditional forest livelihoods is not a viable option due to the government allowing only limited excursions into the forest since their eviction (62, 63).

This research project on which this study is based partners with the Batwa and the neighboring non-Indigenous Bakiga ethnic populations in the Kanungu District of Southwest Uganda. Kanungu borders the Democratic Republic of the Congo and is a travel destination for mountain gorillas in Bwindi Impenetrable National Park (Bwindi). The population of Kanungu is estimated at 250,000, with the majority of the population being of Bakiga ethnicity. Batwa are estimated to number between 750 and 900. The Bakiga are a non-Indigenous, non-Pygmy population who engage in subsistence farming and small-scale livestock trade, with some employment in gorilla tourism.

3.2 Study Design

Retrospective cross-sectional face-to-face surveys were administrated to 10 Batwa communities (attempted census) and 10 Bakiga Local Councils (LCs, the smallest unit of government administration). For the Bakiga, a two-step proportional systematic random-sample of households was carried out. The result of the random sample represents approximately 40% of the Bakiga adults in each LC and a randomly chosen child from each household. Due to frequent travel for employment, household membership was verified by an LC chairperson. A locally hired field assistant administered two surveys in the local language of Rukiga: (1) an individual-level health questionnaire for all ages and (2) a household-level Food Security questionnaire for the head of the household (or a household representative above the age of 18). The survey was informed with local research assistants, local partners, and the communities themselves during pilot testing in July and October 2012. In total, 471 Batwa completed surveys in April 2014, and 696 Bakiga in April 2014, totaling 1,167 respondents (survey breakdown in Table X). Female adults were overrepresented in both surveys, with more overrepresentation among Bakiga than among Batwa. This overrepresentation is likely due to the migratory employment of both Batwa and Bakiga adult men.

3.3 Measuring malnutrition and food security

IHACC team members used middle-upper arm circumference (MUAC) to detect the presence of malnutrition in Batwa and Bakiga individuals. MUAC is advantageous in communitybased programs due to ease of administration (i.e. low technology, ease of use) and global validation across many populations (high ROC curve, known constant increase with age) (64). While MUAC can be adjusted for age or height, the incredible diversity of population contexts makes international adjustment guidelines difficult to prescribe. MUAC predicts death and aligns to many established protein-energy malnutrition cutoffs. MUAC has been used in anthropometric assessment of pygmy populations (65-67); however, there exists little literature on the methodological implications of using a non-pygmy-derived diagnostic in pygmy populations. For the purposes of this research, MUAC was deemed as the most appropriate measure for malnutrition as it is the least subject to the anthropometric difficulties of using height or weight in a Pygmy population, and for comparisons between Pygmy and non-Pygmy peoples.

The USDA Household Food Security Survey Module (HFSSM) is an internationally used method in gauging the relative food security of an individual, household, population. The HFSSM has been deployed in a variety of populations, from children and adults (68) the elderly (69), and settings, including low income countries (70, 71), crisis events (72, 73) and Indigenous populations (74, 75, 76). The HFSSM has also proven adaptable to local conditions, producing locally accurate results even after translation or application in harsh environmental conditions (77, 78). While an evaluation in 2003 of the standard HFSSM indicated its validity in measuring food insecurity over time in an American setting (79), other settings require modification of the method. To adapt the HFSSM to the context of the Batwa and Bakiga populations in Uganda, Patterson developed an Adapted Vulnerable Populations Score (AVPS) (75). The AVPS aims to explicitly address the

high food insecurity and severe hunger present in the Batwa. This is important because several questions from the standard HFSSM have baseline expectations that are unable to capture variation in populations with high baseline food insecurity. For example, Patterson highlights how meal skipping questions on the original survey assumes that baseline participants have access to three meals per day (75). Such a question fails to capture the severity of meal skipping in the Batwa, whose baseline is only one or two meals per day. The AVPS uses a 26-point metric to capture a "wider continuum of food security" – key modifications to the HFSSM include an additional 6 points for households that do not have any children as well as an additional 8 points for households that do have children. Households without children can have a maximum score of 16 while those without can have a maximum score of 26, with scores standardized between households with and without children.

To establish locally appropriate MAM and SAM cutoffs, I used both the WHO and Republic of Uganda's Ministry of Health Integrated Management of Acute Malnutrition Guidelines (IMAMG) (Table 1). The WHO provides global MUAC cutoff guidelines, whereas the IMAMG provides locally-situated assessment and diagnostic criteria (as well as medical classification and action plans) for SAM and MAM in the following age ranges: 6-59 months, 5-9 years, 10-14 years, 15-18 years, and >18 years (see Table X for full MUAC assessment breakdown). Ongoing debates continue about the broad-scale implications of prescribing global cutoffs, especially in populations experiencing violence, fame, or chronic undernourishment (80 - 84). Tang et al provides an extensive review of the varying cutoffs used in adolescents, adults, the elderly and pregnant women for both cross-sectional and longitudinal studies when malnutrition presents itself both alone and alongside a variety of negative health outcomes (85). In general, adults are given higher MUAC cutoffs than children to account for the increase in body mass.

However, adults in a context-specific elderly category may have a MUAC cutoff in-between children and adults to account for the bodily degradation. As an adult enters a context-driven elderly category, the MUAC cutoff is likely to decrease rapidly.

IMAMG Age Ranges	Expected MUAC Measurement*	MAM MUAC Cutoff+	SAM MUAC Cutoff+
6-59 Months	>13.5 cm	11.5 to < 12.5 cm	<11.5 cm
5-9 Years	>14.5 cm	13.5 cm to < 14.5 cm	<13.5 cm
10-14 Years	>18.0 cm	16.0 to < 18.5 cm	<16.0 cm
15-18 Years	>22.0 cm	18.5 cm to < 21.0 cm	<18.5 cm
>18 Years	>23.0 cm	19.0 cm to < 22.0 cm	<19.0 cm

Table 1. IMAMG MAM and SAM MUAC Cutoff Guidelines

*Adopted from WHO Guidelines for Integrated Approach to the National Care of HIV infected Children (2008)

+IMAMG Integrated Management of Acute Malnutrition Guidelines, Republic of Uganda Ministry of Health (2010)

Sauer 24

There are also guidelines for specific populations including: Pregnant/Lactating women, lactating women with infants under 6 months, special needs individuals, HIV infected individuals, tuberculosis infected individuals, and the elderly. The IMAMG guidelines are highly specific to the context of Uganda; however, there are no specific instructions within the IMAMG regarding Indigenous populations within Uganda (i.e. the Batwa). In this analysis, I use unadjusted MUAC measurements to classify individuals qualifying as SAM or MAM within their age- and sexspecific thresholds.

3.4 Measuring Indigeneity

To explicitly model Indigeneity – which this study proposes is a meaningful driver of a health gradient - I chose to create a binary variable called 'ETHNICITY' (where 0 = membership to the Bakiga ethnicity and 1 = membership to the Batwa ethnicity). In this way, all individuals in the dataset can be empirically separated into two overarching ethnicity categories, either Batwa or Bakiga. The 'ETHNICITY' variable is thus meant to supersede the existing societal hierarchies captured in the dataset through individual, household, and community variables. The 'ETHNICITY' variable represents a substantively meaningful social division that operates *above* the aforementioned individual, household, and community divisions.

This 'ETHNICITY' variable labels all individuals within a particular community as having either Batwa or Bakiga ethnicity, assuming homogeneity of ethnicity by community. Communities in the area are largely distinct and segregated by ethnicity, even though there is substantial Batwa and Bakiga interaction. There are a low number of Bakiga living in Batwa communities and vice versa. Many children have mixed Batwa and Bakiga heritage, but these children typically live in Batwa communities and are raised Batwa. Individual-level data on ethnic composition (i.e. around mixed heritage) was not available. If such data were available, it would have been preferable to have both individual-level ethnicity data as well as community-level ethnic membership and composition to further unpack the ways in which ethnicity contributes to health gradients. 'ETHNICITY' here is meant to capture a social construct that reflects the experiences of living in an Indigenous community. Due to the way the variable is structured, a Bakiga living in a Batwa community is presumed to be exposed to some of the same health inequalities related to the Batwa.

3.5 Data analysis

MAM prevalence was calculated by dividing the number of individuals whose MUAC measurements were within the MUAC cutoff for their age (ex. A 12-year-old individual with a MUAC of 16.5 would be experiencing MAM) by the total number of individuals for that age category. SAM prevalence was calculated by dividing the number of individuals whose MUAC measurements were less than the MUAC cutoff for their age (ex. A 12-year-old with a MUAC of 14.5 would be experiencing SAM) by the total number of individuals for that age category. I used confidence intervals when assessing significant differences between groups. I then centered each individual's MUAC measurement on the mean MUAC value for their age-sex class (86).

For multivariable models, we considered two primary outcome variables: MAM status (binary outcome where 1 = MAM status and 0 = no MAM status) and age- and sex-adjusted MUAC percentile (continuous numeric value between 0 and 100). SAM was not included as an outcome because there were an insufficient number of cases that allowed for multivariable statistical testing, and modeling on the few observed cases would risk overfitting. To estimate MUAC percentiles for each individual, prevalence estimates of MAM and SAM for each age-sex stratum were calculated by taking the number of individuals meeting MAM and SAM MUAC

cutoffs divided by the total number of individuals in that age-sex stratum. The obtained age- and sex-centered adjusted percentiles were then smoothed in STATA 13 using the *-smooth-* command – this applies a robust nonlinear moving-window smoother to a variable of interest such that the resulting smoothed data represents a new median-based sample (in the hopes that the general shape of a variable will become more apparent by reducing the unsystematic random noise in the variable) (87).

We calculated an asset-based wealth index as a stand-in proxy for wealth measurements; this approach has been validated in rural and resource poor settings in other health studies (89). We used a principle component analysis to estimate this index. Asset variables included ownership of a radio, ownership of animals, ownership of soap, ownership of a cellphone, ownership of a bicycle, receiving remittances, and owning land.

Multilevel multivariable regression models with random intercepts at the household, community, and ethnic levels were built for both dependent variables of interest. To reach these final models, I began by conducting univariate linear and logistic models possible predictor/control variables of interest and the two primary dependent variables. Collinearity was assessed through graphical analysis of the Pearson residuals as well as an examination of relative variance inflation factors (VIF). To check for confounding, variables were added and removed to detect changes in coefficient values or odds ratios greater than 25% (see discussion in Appendix X). Age- and sexstratified models were specified in a sensitivity analysis to see how results would change when stratified (see Appendix X). Final models were compared through both Bayesian Information Criterion (BIC) and Akaike Information Criterion (AIC). In post-estimation, Pearson's residuals were graphically assessed to validate assumptions of normality and homogeneity (BLUPs).

I then contextualized the overall prevalence of malnutrition in the Batwa to the reported Uganda population prevalence, the SSA regional population prevalence average, and the average population prevalence undernourished across developed regions.

3.6 Using multilevel modeling to unpack a health gradient

In order to unpack the causes of ethnic gradients in malnutrition between the Batwa and Bakiga, I used multilevel modeling and variation partitioning to explore the extent to which differences in malnutrition are attributable to the *composition* of the populations (e.g. are more Batwa who are poorer, young, or less educated than Bakiga, leading to differences in apparent malnutrition) or the *context* of the population (e.g. regardless of individual or household wealth, or even geographic location, does the *ethnicity of the community* matter?). Variance partitioning seeks to identify the level of aggregation — in this case individual, household, community, or community ethnicity — at which malnutrition between individuals. These analyses thus sought to unpack the potential causal mechanisms underlying the ethnic gradient in health between the Batwa and Bakiga, exploring whether Batwa individuals are more malnourished due to *who they are* or by characteristics of *where they live*, with a focus on community ethnicity as a social gradient and higher-level social construct influencing health.

I built a multilevel mixed linear regression predicting age- and sex-centered, smoothed MUAC percentiles. Multilevel modeling allows a statistical analyst to look at clustering as substantively interesting, rather than nuisance that needs to be controlled (90). Certain assumptions of the widely used Ordinary Least Squares (OLS) regression method force the analyst into a series of assumptions about their data, such as, complete independence between observations, homogeneity in the underlying variance, and linear relationships between parameters of interest.

When an analyst thoroughly – and correctly – abides by the required assumptions of OLS regression, a tradeoff occurs wherein a story's true complexity is traded for the truest *average* version of that story. However, if an analyst seeks to explore a story's true complexity, multilevel modelling allows for a more robust way to model *compositional* characteristics (e.g., individual characteristics), *contextual* characteristics (e.g., collective characteristics), and the *compositional-contextual* interactions between (91, 92).

To quantify these contextual and compositional-contextual interaction, multilevel modeling makes use of variance partitioning. In a standard OLS regression model, variation in y_i is accounted for by a single σ^2 parameter, for example (Eq. 1):

(Eq. 1)
$$y_i = X_i\beta + e_i, e_i \sim N(0, \sigma^2)$$

However, in a multilevel model, the variance components are broken up into however many levels a given model has (in Eq. 2, there are 2-levels):

(Eq. 2)
$$y_{ij} = X_{ij}\beta + u_j + e_{ij}, u_j \sim N(0, \sigma_u^2), e_{ij} \sim N(0, \sigma_e^2)$$

The above variance is partitioned into the two components u_j and e_{ij} , where σ_u^2 represents betweenlevel variance and σ_e^2 represents residual-level variance. These are known to represent betweenand residual-level variance as they are the derivations of the variance when examining the OLS regression in matrix form (also known as the 'variance-covariance matrix', for proofs see 109).

Once models have been fully specified, I calculated the variance partitioning coefficient (VPC) with the following equation (Eq. 3, for proofs see 109):

(Eq. 3)
$$VPC = \sigma_u^2 / (\sigma_e^2 + \sigma_u^2)$$

The VPC allows me to calculate the percentage of the variance explained by the highest level of the model (109). I built four models in total, each with different hypothesized social hierarchies of empirical interest thought to shape the outcome of malnutrition in the Batwa and Bakiga: (1) Individual, Household, and Community Levels (excluding covariates), (2) Individual, Household, and Community Levels (excluding covariates), (2) Individual, Household, and Community Levels (including covariates), (3) Individual, Household, community, and Ethnicity Levels (excluding covariates), and (4) Individual, Household, Community, and Ethnicity Levels (including covariates). Models 1 and 2 are meant to demonstrate the multilevel mixed regression results if we were to only model Individual, Household, and Community characteristics. Models 3 and 4 include community ethnicity as a level, which we explicitly modeled to account for difference in malnutrition clustering at different social levels between Batwa and Bakiga populations. As per the recommendations of Subramanian (personal communication), the following figure illustrates the hierarchy used in to construct multilevel model (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Visualization of hierarchical data structure used in multilevel model

I also modeled MAM status as a binary outcome variable. The results did not substantially differ, and I thus only present the results of the continuous outcome variable (MUAC). The logistic regression results for MAM status are presented in the supplementary materials (Appendix 1a). For the Individual and Household levels, control parameters were selected based on Akaike Information Criterion (AIC) and Bayesian Information Criterion (BIC), wherein I selected a model with the lowest AIC and BIC values to minimize the estimated effect of missing data in the model (for more information on a comparison of AIC and BIC, see 93).

Chapter 4: Results

4.1 Malnutrition among Batwa and Bakiga

Malnutrition is high in among both Batwa children and adults. Nearly half of all Batwa adults and nearly a quarter of all Batwa children experienced moderate acute malnutrition (MAM) (Table 2, Figure 2). SAM was highest among male Batwa adults at 11.60% (95% CI: 4.83-18.37%), followed by male Batwa children (prevalence: 8%; 95% CI: 3.3-12.7%). The prevalence of MAM and SAM was high among all age- and sex-strata of Batwa: all Batwa strata met the WHO criteria for a 'Critical health situation crisis' for malnutrition (Table 2, 88).

In contrast, none of the Bakiga sex-age strata presented MAM or SAM rates meeting WHO criteria for a malnutrition crisis based on presence of wasting (i.e. MAM or worse) in a given population (Table 2) (88). MAM and SAM prevalence was significantly higher — across all ageand sex-strata — among Indigenous Batwa compared to the non-Indigenous Bakiga (Table 2, Figure 2), with the exception of female children (whose prevalence of SAM was similar at 3.36% and 3.4%, respectively). The highest rates of malnutrition among Bakiga were male children, with 2.2% (95% CI: 0.03–4.37%) of the population classified as MAM.

Gender and ethnicity grouping	Total	Mean MUAC (CI)	MAM % (CI)	SAM % (CI)	WHO Crisis Cutoffs (for acceptable, - for poor, + for serious, ++ for Critical)
Children (<18 ye	ears of age	<i>?</i>)			
Male Bakiga	175	19.65 (19.08-20.22)	2.2% (0.03-4.37)	0.57% (-0.55-1.69)	
Male Batwa	128	16.04 (15.58-16.50)	20% (13.07-26.93)	8% (3.3-12.7)	++
Female Bakiga	176	19.83 (19.25-20.40)	1.7% (-0.21-3.61)	3.40% (0.72-6.08)	
Female Batwa	124	16.47 (15.96-16.99)	25.2% (17.56-32.84)	3.36% (0.19-6.53)	++
Adults (>=18 yea	urs of age)				
Male Bakiga	106	27.47 (26.99-27.94)	0.90% (-0.90-2.70)	0% (NA)	
Male Batwa	86	22.21 (21.57-22.85)	45.34% (34.82-55.86)	11.60% (4.83-18.37)	++
Female Bakiga	239	28.55 (28.16-28.94)	0.42% (-0.40-1.24)	0% (NA)	
Female Batwa	133	22.68 (22.24-23.11)	45.86% (37.39-54.33)	3% (0.10-5.90)	++

Table 2. Age- and sex- specific	prevalence of MAM and SA	AM for the Bakiga and Batwa	of SW Uganda, April 2014



Mean MUAC Values Across Batwa and Bakiga Stratum

Figure 2. Comparison of Batwa and Bakiga MUAC means across population strata

4.2 Unpacking the malnutrition gradient

In order unpack the Indigenous malnutrition gradient observed between the Batwa and Bakiga, the I used multilevel models and variation partitioning to explore variation in the data at different levels to ask why and where this health gradient emerges. The best-fit model retained age (categorical) and sex as individual-level controls. Number of dependents, maximum education of household head, and relative wealth were retained as household-level controls (Table 3).

Clustering of malnutrition (MUAC) between individuals within the same household and community (Model 1) indicated substantial clustering of MUAC within households; household-level clustering explained 57% of variation in the distribution of smoothed MUAC percentiles. An additional 4% of variation in MUAC was explained by clustering between households in the same community, with 39% left unexplained (i.e. random effects). The addition of covariates at the household and community levels added predictive and explanatory power to the model, and highlighted the role of household wealth in driving clustering of malnutrition among individuals within the same household (Model 2).

The addition of community ethnicity as a higher-level variable resulted in a significant shift in model results (Models 3 and 4), with community ethnicity explaining 64-66% of variation in MUAC. The inclusion of community ethnicity led to a drop in the explanatory power of householdlevel clustering, with community-level variance remaining minimal. There was minimal change in results when covariates were included in the model (Model 4). The greatest portion of variance in malnutrition was explained by community ethnicity (>60%), both with and without controls (Table 3, Figure 5). When community ethnicity was included in the model, household level predictors dramatically lowered their explanation of variance. Community level variance changed only incrementally between models (changing between 2-3%). These results point to a significant and strong clustering effect of malnutrition between Batwa and Bakiga that cannot be explained by compositional factors associated with risk factors or unmeasured characteristics of individuals, households, or community location.

Model name	All models control for household and community level clustering, and control for individual age and sex			
(description)	Model 1 Baseline with household and community clustering, controlling for age and sex	Model 2 Model 1 + household-level predictors	Model 3 Model 1 + clustering by ethnicity	Model 4 Model 1 + household-level predictors and clustering by ethnicity
Variance partitioning (ex	planatory ability of clustering by	household, community, and et	hnicity)	
Total variation (%)	373.94 (100)	325.45 (100)	438.74 (100)	445.03 (100)
Explained by Household (%)	215.67 (57)	183.10 (56)	4.34e^-14 (<1)	5.7e^-14 (<1)
Explained by Community (%)	14.25 (4)	6.13 (2)	21.53 (4.9)	21.76 (5)
Explain by Ethnicity (%)		-	280.92 (64)	296.26 (66)
Random effects/ Unexplained (%)	144.02 (39)	126.22 (42)	136.29 (31)	127.01 (28)
Intercept/Constant	57.78	45.098	49.97	46.152
Individual Predictors (con	ntrols)			
Age category <5 5-18 18-45 >45	Ref. -2.38 (-4.760.008) 7.08 (4.83 - 9.32) 3.94 (1.24 - 6.65)	Ref. -3.186 (-6.27 – 0.093)* 6.235 (3.43 – 9.03)* 5.047 (2.04 – 8.05)*	Ref. -1.36 (-3.24 – 0.524) 6.76 (4.83 – 8.70) 4.13 (1.94 – 6.32)	Ref. -2.00 (-4.44 – 0.44) 6.202 (3.88 – 8.52)* 4.622 (2.22 – 7.02)*
Sex				
Female	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.
Male	-2.87 (-4.561.18)	-1.912 (-3.650.165)*	-2.45 (-3.811.09)	-1.88 (-3.270.49)*
Household-level Predictor	rs			
Number of dependents	-	1.027 (0.260 - 1.795)*	-	0.686 (0.30 - 1.06)*
Max education category No formal schooling Primary incomplete	-	Ref.	-	Ref.
Above	-	1.28 (-1.09 – 3.66) 2.45 (-2.37 – 6.86)	-	1.42 (-0.442 – 3.29) 0.498 (-3.07 – 4.07)
Wealth category Least wealthy Middle wealthy Most wealthy	- -	Ref. 8.17 (4.67 – 11.67)* 14.36 (10.81 – 17.91)*	-	Ref. -1.19 (-2.93 – 0.542) 0.571 (-1.32 – 2.46)
AIC of model BIC of model	10255.77 10296.58	9210.81 9275.83	9484.77 9530.68	8517.34 8587.35

Table 3. Multilevel mixed regression results for Batwa and Bakiga malnutrition

*Denote significance using a 95% confidence interval.



Model 4 - IND + HH + COMM + ETHNICITY (Mixed model)

Figure 5. Variance partitioning from Model 4 (Table 3)

Chapter 5: Discussion

5.1 Comparison of Batwa malnutrition to national, regional, and global prevalence rates

This thesis highlights severe malnutrition among all Batwa age- and sex-strata in Kanungu District, Uganda, with Batwa malnutrition rates meeting WHO criteria for a critical malnutrition crisis. The Batwa's population prevalence of malnutrition (ranging from 20% to 45% of a given population stratum) is higher than the reported national Ugandan population prevalence, which UNICEF estimated to be between 13.8% and 20% in 2008-2012 (21). The Batwa's population prevalence of malnutrition is also higher than the regional population prevalence for Sub-Saharan Africa, which the FAO estimated to be 23.2% from 2014-2016 (6). FAO estimates the average population prevalence of undernourishment in developed countries is less than 5% (6). If health inequalities emerge both between- and within- groups of people and places of inhabitance (following Marmot's 2006 understanding of health inequalities), the malnutrition prevalence of the Batwa who reside in Kanungu demonstrates a health inequity across multiple dimensions. The Batwa have a between-ethnic group inequality when compared to the nearby Bakiga. The Batwa have a within-area inequality when compared to the greater population prevalence rates of malnutrition in greater Uganda. The Batwa have a global between-places inequality when compared to populations in developed regions. Malnutrition is one of numerous health inequalities faced by the Batwa. Table 4 compares health and socioeconomic indicators for the Batwa and comparison groups, displaying a consistent gradient in health inequity (4, 7).

Table 4. Table comparing socioeconomic and health indicators of the Batwa and Bakiga

Indicator	Batwa	Bakiga	SW Uganda	Uganda
Health				
Life Expectancy at birth (years)	28 ^a	n/a	n/a	59 ^b
Child mortality (% under 5 years)	38 ^b	n/a	12.8 ^g	9 ^g
HIV/AIDS (%)	2.3 ^c	9 ^j	3.8 ^c	7.4 ^h
Malaria Prevalence Among Adults (proportion of population in July 2013 and April 2014 – all adults Batwa, sample adults Bakiga)	29 (6.45) ^d	20 (4.46) ^d	n/a 19% ^k	
Education				
Adult literacy (% 15-49 years)	<10 ^e	n/a	Women: 75.5, Men: 77.4 ^g	Women: 64.2, Men: 77.5 ^g
Livelihoods and Income				
GDP per capita (Constant 2000 USD)	160 ^f		n/a	696 ^f
Household mosquito net use (did not have nets, proportion of population)	93 (70.99) ^d	218 (53.56) ^d	n/a	71.6% ^k
Assets (did not have any assets, proportion of population)	82 (62.12) ^d	77 (19.01) ^d	0.30 Gini Coefficient ¹	0.29 Gini Coefficient ¹
Access to handwashing facilities (did not have access to handwashing facilities, proportion of population)	96 (73.85) ^d	229 (56.40) ^d	86.8% ^m	86.0% ^m
Access to soap (did not have access to soap, proportion of population)	98 (75.38) ^d	252 (62.06) ^d	8.3% of people Av had access to pe handwashing ha facilities with both fac water and soap ^m wa	erage of 7.2% of ople had access to ndwashing cilities with both uter and soap ^m

a As of 2000 (BDP, 2003)

b As of 2011 (World Bank, 2015)

c As of 2009 for Mpungu and Kayonza subcountines in Kanungu District (Birugni, 2010)

d As of 2013 and 2014 (Donnelly et al., 2016)

e As of 2012 (Berrang-Ford et al., 2012)

g As of 2011 (UBOS, 2011)

h As of 2014 (UNAIDS, 2015)

i As of 2014 (World Bank, 2015)

j As of 2011 (Ugandan Ministry of Health AIDS Indicator Survey, 2011)

k As of 2015 - Estimated population prevalence (Uganda Ministry of Health Malaria Indicator Survey, 2015)

1 As of 2015 – Gini coefficient based on composite wealth index (Uganda Ministry of Health Malaria Indicator Survey, 2015)

m As of 2012/2013 (Uganda National Household Survey, 2012-2013)

f Patterson et al., 2015

The health inequality faced by the Batwa is similar to inequalities faced by Indigenous peoples around the world, especially amongst Indigenous children (148, 149). Across Latin American Indigenous children, rates of malnutrition are double to that of the general population (94). Among Aboriginal peoples living in Australia, Indigenous children under five years old from the Northern Territory had a higher prevalence of underweight (14.5%) and stunting (11.3%) compared to the healthy population profile for the area where the underweight prevalence was expected to be 2.3% (95). The *Orang Asli* of Peninsular Malaysia demonstrated high proportions of underweight (49%) and stunted (64%) children compared to Malaysian national averages (11%) (42, 96). Despite differences in the magnitude of the malnutrition inequality from one Indigenous context to another, there is persistent evidence of an Indigenous gradient in health associated with malnutrition in diverse contexts.

5.2 Does 'pygmy' status matter? Genetic determinants of malnutrition

An essential consideration when comparing anthropometric results between the Batwa and Bakiga is the extent to which the Batwa heritage as a 'pygmy' population might explain differences in malnutrition estimates. Some literature theorizes that 'pygmy' stature emerges due to persistent environmental stressors that lead to malnutrition across generations (111), potentially indicating that historical — rather than current — contextual conditions and inequalities are driving lower anthropometric measures among pygmy peoples compared to non-pygmy neighbors. This theory

Sauer 42

is challenged by others, however, including Migliano, whose research on the Efe and Lese of the Philippines suggests that the effect of chronic malnutrition on stature trajectory is incompatible with the growth rate in 'pygmy' adolescence, thus suggesting a possible genetic component that drives 'pygmy' stature rather than malnutrition (111).

Genetic arguments for the emergence of 'pygmy' stature in a population point to environmental pressures that favored the short stature of pygmies (113, 114, 115, 116, 118). Theories purport that the emergence of the 'pygmy' phenotype was environmentally advantageous, such that a given population could adapt to environmentally harsh situations (such as a dense wooded environment) to increase thermoregulation, increase forest-environment mobility (i.e. scaling trees, avoiding continuous crouching), or to facilitate a relatively early age of reproduction (i.e.) (113, 114, 115, 116, 119). Rather than attribute 'pygmy' status to everpresent malnutrition driven by a deterministic environment (111), genetic theories suggest a genetic adaptation by peoples living in a harsh environment that maximizes fitness under conditions of limited lifespan.

Other notable explanations for the emergence of the 'pygmy' stature are important to mention even if they do not address malnutrition or environmental pressures. One explanation for 'pygmy' population draws upon the possibility that the 'pygmy' phenotype is an historic artefact rather than an advantageous evolutionary adaptation or environmentally-induced change (117, 118). Somewhat similarly, other authors have suggested that difference in stature may be attributable to a genetic split that drove height in opposite directions (120, 121). Although these are less frequent and poorly supported explanations — their explanation for the 'pygmy' phenotype is that it comes from random mutations in the reproductive cycle — they are recurring narratives that appear in pygmy literature.

In the context of the results presented in this thesis for Batwa and Bakiga, genetic explanations for the observed ethnic gradients in my results are plausible. Evolutionary theories could explain adult differences in malnutrition between the Batwa and Bakiga that reflect historic contexts and pressure. In this case, however, we should observed a narrower gradient for malnutrition inequality among Batwa and Bakiga children, who have no experience with forest livelihoods, and in many cases whose parents lived outside of the forest much of their life as well. I additionally used an anthropometric measure, MUAC, that is the least likely to be biased due to differences in stature (weight or height) between Batwa and Bakiga.

5.3 Why ethnicity matters: social gradients in health

The social gradients in health literature points to the potential role of social context in explaining community-level ethnic gradients in health. In this context, community ethnicity can be understood and interrogated as a determinant of health among the Batwa and Bakiga of Kanungu District (4). There has been substantial literature theorizing such links between ethnicity and health, ranging in both approach and focus (122-128).

As a social determinant of health, ethnicity has been posited as a proxy for socio-economic factors (such as employment, education, and income), environmental factors (such as the quality of the physical environment) and social power relations (both within communities and in regards to political empowerment, sometimes referred to as distal determinants of health) (122). When ethnicity stratifies available employment options, marginalized ethnicities are less likely to obtain similar levels of social support from their peers and are more likely to find means of employment with hazardous or insecure working conditions that negatively affect health (129, 130, 131). In Indigenous and Aboriginal peoples, there is a unifying history of colonialism, racism, and social exclusion, within which all other determinants can be constructed (137, 138, 139). One important legacy of colonialism on Indigenous peoples was — and continues to be — the dispossession and displacement from traditional lands, wherein Indigenous peoples were restricted from continuing established social activities (such as hunting, trapping, and gathering) that are integral to survival and cultural continuity (140-143). Research on Aboriginal peoples in Canada found that traditional harvesting was linked to "a greater rapport with the land, an increased sense of self-reliance and enhanced overall health." (140).

When discussing ethnicity as a social determinant of health, ethnicity is confounded by other social determinants (such as class) (132, 133). It was only in the mid-1980s that the idea that other social aspects of health could be both "intertwined with as well as independent of race" (122). These types of understandings would foreshow the intersectional approach that is now increasingly

common in the social determinants of health literature, wherein researchers are increasingly recognizing how each aspect of a given person's identity can *intersect* with another aspect to alter health status (134, 135, 136). Through such intersectional approaches, previously overlooked, nuanced aspects of identity, such as geographic isolation, sexuality, disease stigmatization, and Indigeneity, among others, are slowly being folded into the established social determinants of health literature.

In regards to the Batwa, ethnicity captures differences in health and social outcomes. Previous work conducted by the IHACC research team found that the proportion of Batwa households facing chronic and very low food security ranged from 79%-92% (75). In the same study, Patterson found that Batwa who sought employment in the seasonal tourism industry as an alternative to focusing on growing food for themselves may have generated more income to purchase food in markets but demonstrated no quantitative evidence of improved food security (75). Additionally, Donnelly (22) found that Batwa experienced a higher risk of malaria compared to Bakiga even after controlling for wealth and other socioeconomic factors, pointing primarily to differences in the physical structure of houses. The origins of these inequalities are mixed and cannot be reduced to a single point. Major historical moments that shifted Batwa livelihoods include their initial contact with British colonizers during the initial dividing of Uganda into 'ethnic' and 'tribal' provinces (145) as well as the forest gazetting processes that led to their eviction from Bwindi Forest in 1991 (109, 143, 144). This prolonged and substantial dispossession of land parallels other instances of Indigenous dispossession and may be a driving force in inequalities of health, livelihoods, and socioeconomic access (140). Moreover, the Batwa's 'pygmy' identity and its inextricable connection to their ethnic identity has posed a series of recognition problems with the contemporary Ugandan government, demonstrating another parallel with previous research that posited negative health impacts when an ethnicity was marginalized in societal power relationships (122, 146, 147). Without formal recognition and representation in contemporary Ugandan institutions, the Batwa are forced to not only overcome existing resource and social inequalities but also act as advocates for their own issues from a marginalized place in Ugandan society (148).

5.4 Conclusions

This research analyzed the prevalence of malnutrition in the Indigenous Batwa and non-Indigenous Bakiga of Southwestern Uganda through a mixed methods approach. Drawing from field surveys conducted by the IHACC research group, the quantitative analysis estimated the prevalence of malnutrition in both the Batwa and Bakiga, and conducted variation partitioning at individual, household, community, and ethnic levels to explain variation in malnutrition distributions. These results suggest that ethnicity is a strong explanatory force for the distribution of malnutrition between the Batwa and Bakiga of Kanungu District, Uganda, and supports the existing body of research that argues for understanding Indigeneity as a social determinant of health.

Sauer 47

As a social determinant of health, many of the inequalities that emerge along ethnic lines are intervenable. To understand *and* begin remedying these inequalities, future research must approach through the perspective of advocacy to provide evidence and arguments that can be incorporated into policy suggestions or new legislation. A promising type of research would be intervention studies, which could provide "immediate adaptation support" while "building evidence for broader project implementations" (75). These research projects should prioritize what the Batwa articulate as necessary and consent to.

While a reading of this thesis might incline the reader to see the Batwa's situation as hopeless or dire, the Batwa are a people with extreme adaptive capabilities and resilience. The Batwa have survived and persisted through both the European colonial period in Uganda as well as the 'post-colonial' eviction from their forest homelands. The Batwa have mobilized through the United Organization for Batwa Development in Uganda (UOBDU), and are currently seeking to address issues of land, housing, education, income, forest access and more. Researchers interested in Indigenous social determinants of health can provide collaborative support with the Batwa to amplify their voices on the path of addressing historical injustice.

Reference List

- 1. Jamison DT, Breman JG, Measham AR, Alleyne G, Claeson M, Evans DB, Jha P, Mills A, Musgrove P, eds. Disease control priorities in developing countries. New York and Washington, DC: Oxford University Press and World Bank, 2006:1053–74.
- Marchant, T., Bryce, J., Victora, C., Moran, A. C., Claeson, M., Requejo, J., Amouzou, A., ... Grove, J. (January 01, 2016). Improved measurement for mothers, newborns and children in the era of the Sustainable Development Goals. Journal of Global Health, 6, 1.)
- Liu L, Hill K, Oza S, Hogan D, Chu Y., and others. 2016. "Levels and Causes of Mortality under Age Five Years." In Disease Control Priorities (third edition): Volume 2, Reproductive, Maternal, Newborn, and Child Health, edited by Black R, Laxminarayan R, Temmerman M, Walker N, editors. Washington, DC: World Bank.
- 4. Marmot, M., & In Wilkinson, R. G. (2006). Social determinants of health.
- 5. Kolcsić I. (January 01, 2012). Double burden of malnutrition: A silent driver of double burden of disease in low- and middle-income countries. Journal of Global Health, 2, 2.)
- 6. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. (2015). The state of food insecurity in the world. Rome, Italy: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations.
- 7. Carson, B. (2007). Social determinants of indigenous health. Crows Nest, N.S.W: Allen & Unwin.
- 8. Disko, S., In Tugendhat, H., International Work Group for Indigenous Affairs, & Forest Peoples Programme. (2014). World Heritage sites and Indigenous peoples' rights.
- Ohenjo N, Willis R, Jackson D, Nettleton C, Good K, Mugarura B. (2006). Indigenous health 3: health of Indigenous people in Africa. Lancet (London, England). 367 (9526):1937– 46.
- Anderson, I., Crengle, S., Kamaka, M. L., Chen, T. H., Palafox, N., & Jackson-Pulver, L. (January 01, 2006). Indigenous health in Australia, New Zealand, and the Pacific. Lancet (London, England), 367, 9524, 1775-85.
- Stephens, C., Porter, J., Nettleton, C., Willis, R. (2006). Series Indigenous Health 4 Disappearing, displaced, and undervalued: a call to action for Indigenous health worldwide. Lancet (London, England). 367: 2019–28.
- Dudgeon, P., Kelly, K., Walker., R. (2010). Closing the gaps in and through Indigenous health research: Guidelines, processes and practices. Australian Aboriginal Studies, 2010-2, 81-91.

- Stephens, C., Nettleton, C., Porter, J., Willis, R., & Clark, S. (January 01, 2005). Indigenous peoples' health—why are they behind everyone, everywhere?. The Lancet, 366, 9479, 10-13.
- 14. Collins, S. (January 01, 2007). Treating severe acute malnutrition seriously. Archives of Disease in Childhood, 92, 5, 453-61.
- 15. African Commission on Human and Peoples' Rights. (2005). Report of the African Commission's working group of experts on indigenous populations/communities =: Rapport du groupe de travail d'experts de la Commission Africaine des Droits de l'Homme et des Peuples sur les populations/communautés autochtones. Banjul: ACHPR Banjul.
- 16. Clark, S. (2015). The Burden and Lived Experience of Acute Gastrointestinal Illness in an Indigenous Batwa Population in Southwestern Uganda. Bachelor of Arts Thesis for the Department of Geography, McGill University. Supervisor Professor Berrang-Ford, Lea. McGill University eScholarship, available through <u>http://digitool.library.mcgill.ca/R/</u>.
- Watson, I. (16 July 2014). The 2007 Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples: Indigenous Survival – Where to From Here? Griffith Law Review (20): 2011 – issue 3, 507-514.
- Champagne, Duane. UNDRIP (United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples): Human, Civil, and Indigenous rights. Wicazo Sa Review (28): 1 Spring 2013, 9-22.
- 19. Campbell, J. R. (February 01, 2004). Ethnic Minorities and Development: A Prospective Look at the Situation of African Pastoralists and Hunter-Gatherers. Ethnicities, 4, 1, 5-26.
- 20. King, M., Smith, A., & Gracey, M. (January 01, 2009). Indigenous health part 2: the underlying causes of the health gap. Lancet (London, England), 374, 9683, 76-85
- 21. Paradies, Y. (March 01, 2016). Colonisation, racism and indigenous health. Journal of Population Research, 33, 1, 83-96.
- 22. Donnelly, B., L. Berrang-Ford, J. Labbe, S. Twesigomwe, S. Lwasa, B.D. Namanya, S.L. Harper, M. Kulkarni, N.A. Ross, IHACC Research Team, and P. Michel (2016) Prevalence and risk factors of Plasmodium falciparum malaria parasitemia among Indigenous Batwa and non-Indigenous communities of Kanungu District, Uganda. Malaria Journal 15:254.
- 23. Kulkarni, M., Garrod, G., Baraheberwa, N., Namanya, D., Lwasa, S., Patterson, K., Harper, S., Donnelly, B. IHACC Research Team & Drakeley, C. (2016) Examination of Antibody Responses as a Measure of Exposure to Malaria in the Indigenous Batwa and Their Non-Indigenous Neighbors in Southwestern Uganda. AJTMH (In press)

- 24. Blössner, Monika, de Onis, Mercedes. Malnutrition: quantifying the health impact at national and local levels. Geneva, World Health Organization, 2005. (WHO Environmental Burden of Disease Series, No. 12).
- 25. Roche, A. F., & Falkner, F. (1974). Nutrition and Malnutrition: Identification and Measurement. Boston, MA: Springer US.
- 26. Bradfield, R.B.: A rapid tissue technique for the field assessment of protein-calorie malnutrition. Amer. J. Clin. Nutr., 25:720, 1972.
- 27. Lenters, L. M., Wazny, K., Webb, P., Ahmed, T., & Bhutta, Z. A. (January 01, 2013). Treatment of severe and moderate acute malnutrition in low- and middle-income settings: a systematic review, meta-analysis and Delphi process. Bmc Public Health, 13.
- VictoraG, AdairL, FallC, HallalPC, Martorell R, Richter P, SachdevHS. Maternal and child undernutrition: consequences for adult health and human capital. Lancet 2008;371:340-57
- 29. Ballard, T. J., & Neumann, C. G. (January 01, 1995). The effects of malnutrition, parental literacy and household crowding on acute lower respiratory infections in young Kenyan children. Journal of Tropical Pediatrics, 41, 1, 8-13.
- 30. James, P., Sadler, K., Wondafrash, M., Argaw, A., Luo, H., Geleta, B., Kedir, K., ... Bahwere, P. (January 01, 2016). Children with Moderate Acute Malnutrition with No Access to Supplementary Feeding Programmes Experience High Rates of Deterioration and No Improvement: Results from a Prospective Cohort Study in Rural Ethiopia. Plos One, 11, 4.)
- Trehan, I., & Manary, M. J. (January 01, 2015). Management of severe acute malnutrition in low-income and middle-income countries. Archives of Disease in Childhood, 100, 3, 283-7.
- 32. Collins, S. (January 01, 2007). Treating severe acute malnutrition seriously. Archives of Disease in Childhood, 92, 5, 453-61.
- 33. Jones, K. D., & Berkley, J. A. (January 01, 2014). Severe acute malnutrition and infection. Paediatrics and International Child Health, 34, 1.
- 34. Pelletier, D. L., Frongillo, E. A. J., Schroeder, D. G., & Habicht, J. P. (January 01, 1995). The effects of malnutrition on child mortality in developing countries. Bulletin of the World Health Organization, 73, 4, 443-8.
- 35. World Health Organization. (1999). Management of severe malnutrition: a manual for physicians and other senior health workers. Available from: http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/41999/1/a57361.pdf

- 36. UNICEF. (2013). Improving Child Nutrition: the achievable imperative for global progress. NY: UNICEF.
- 37. James, P., Sadler, K., Wondafrash, M., Argaw, A., Luo, H., Geleta, B., Kedir, K., ... Bahwere, P. (January 01, 2016). Children with Moderate Acute Malnutrition with No Access to Supplementary Feeding Programmes Experience High Rates of Deterioration and No Improvement: Results from a Prospective Cohort Study in Rural Ethiopia. Plos One, 11, 4.)
- 38. Victora, C. G., Adair, L., Fall, C., Hallal, P. C., Martorell, R., Richter, L., Sachdev, H. S., ... Maternal and Child Undernutrition Study Group. (January 01, 2008). Maternal and child undernutrition: consequences for adult health and human capital. Lancet (london, England), 371, 9609, 340-57.
- 39. IMMUNOCOMPETENCE IN ADULT MALNUTRITION. (July 01, 1974). Nutrition Reviews, 32, 7, 201-202.
- 40. N. S. Scrimshaw, C. E. Taylor, and J. E. Gordon: Interactions of Nutrition and Infection, WHO Chron. 23: 369-374,1969
- 41. D. K. Law, S. J. Dudrick, and N. I. Abdou: Immunocompetence of Patients with ProteinCalorie Malnutrition. Ann. Int. Med. 79: 545- 550,1973
- 42. UNICEF WHO World Bank Group. (2015). Levels and trends in child malnutrition: key findings of the 2015 edition. UNICEF, World Health Organization, and the World Bank Group.
- 43. Haddad, L., Cameron, L., & Barnett, I. (January 01, 2015). The double burden of malnutrition in SE Asia and the Pacific: priorities, policies and politics. Health Policy and Planning, 30, 9, 1193-206.
- 44. Kimani-Murage, E. W. (January 01, 2013). Exploring the paradox: double burden of malnutrition in rural South Africa. Global Health Action, 6.
- 45. Bourne, R. (2003). Invisible lives: Undercounted, underrepresented and underneath the socio-economic plight of indigenous peoples in the Commonwealth. Commonwealth Studies Unit, London.
- 46. Reading, CL. (2009). Health Inequalities and Social Determinants of Aboriginal Peoples' Health. National Collaborating Centre for Aboriginal Health. Available from: <u>http://www.nccah-ccnsa.ca/docs/social%20determinates/nccah-loppie-wien_report.pdf</u>
- 47. Dinachandra, S. K., Alagarajan, M., & Ladusingh, L. (January 01, 2015). What Explains Child Malnutrition of Indigenous People of Northeast India?. Plos One, 10, 6.)

- 48. Anticona, C., & San, S. M. (January 01, 2014). Anemia and malnutrition in indigenous children and adolescents of the Peruvian Amazon in a context of lead exposure: a cross-sectional study. Global Health Action, 7.
- 49. Agozino, B., & Volpe, S. L. (January 01, 2009). Health inequalities in correctional institutions: implications for health inequalities in the community. Journal of Correctional Health Care: the Official Journal of the National Commission on Correctional Health Care, 15, 4, 251-67.
- 50. Kuhnlein, H. V., & Receveur, O. (January 01, 1996). Dietary change and traditional food systems of indigenous peoples. Annual Review of Nutrition, 16, 417-42.
- 51. Saibul, N., Shariff, Z. M., Lin, K. G., Kandiah, M., Ghani, N. A., & Rahman, H. A. (January 01, 2009). Food variety score is associated with dual burden of malnutrition in Orang Asli (Malaysian indigenous peoples) households: implications for health promotion. Asia Pacific Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 18, 3, 412-22.
- 52. Morris, N. F., Stewart, S., Riley, M. D., & Maguire, G. P. (December 01, 2016). The Indigenous Australian Malnutrition Project: the burden and impact of malnutrition in Aboriginal Australian and Torres Strait Islander hospital inpatients, and validation of a malnutrition screening tool for use in hospitals—study rationale and protocol. Springerplus, 5, 1, 1-10.
- 53. Larson, A., Gillies, M., Howard, P. J., & Coffin, J. (August 01, 2007). It's enough to make you sick: the impact of racism on the health of Aboriginal Australians. Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health, 31, 4, 322-329.
- 54. Strong, J., Nielsen, M., Williams, M., Huggins, J., & Sussex, R. (June 01, 2015). Quiet about pain: Experiences of Aboriginal people in two rural communities. Australian Journal of Rural Health, 23, 3, 181-184.
- 55. Ziersch, A. M., Gallaher, G., Baum, F., & Bentley, M. (October 01, 2011). Responding to racism: Insights on how racism can damage health from an urban study of Australian Aboriginal people. Social Science & Medicine, 73, 7, 1045-1053.
- 56. Thomas, R. R. (1991). Beyond race and gender: Unleashing the power of your total work force by managing diversity. New York, NY: AMACOM, American Management Association.
- 57. Klieman, K. A. (2003). "The Pygmies were our compass": Bantu and Batwa in the history of west central Africa, early times to c. 1900 C.E. Portsmouth, NH: Heinemann.
- 58. Lewis, J., & Minority Rights Group. (2000). The Batwa pygmies of the Great Lakes Region. London: Minority Rights Group International.

- 59. Kidd, C and Zaninka, P. (2009). Uganda Report: International Work Group on Indigenous Affirs (IWGIA). For the Indigenous World 2009, IWGIA's Yearbook. April 2009. Available at: <u>http://www.forestpeoples.org/region/uganda/publication/2010/uganda</u>
- 60. Vansina, J. (1990). Paths in the rainforests: Toward a history of political tradition in equatorial Africa. Madison, Wis: University of Wisconsin Press.
- 61. In Barume, K. with Jackson, D., Heading Towards Extinction? The Expulsion of the Twa from the Kahuzi Biega National Park, Democratic Republic of Congo, Copenhagen, World Rainforest Movement and Forest Peoples' Program, draft 1999, the interested reader will find an extended discussion of the international process promoting indigenous rights and the Batwa's history of involvement in it. See also Braem, F., Indigenous Peoples: In Search of Partners, with a Consultative Questionnaire, APFT Working Paper no. 5, Brussels, 1999 for a more global perspective.
- 62. Kenrick, J. (23 October 2000). The Batwa of South West Uganda: World Bank Policy on Indigenous Peoples and the Conservation of the Bwindi and Mgahinga Naitonal Parks. Forest Peoples Programme, United Organisation for Batwa development in Uganda. Available from: <u>http://www.forestpeoples.org/sites/fpp/files/publication/2010/08/wbipsugandamay00eng.</u> <u>pdf</u>.
- 63. Anaya, J. (15 September 2010). Report by the Special Rapporteur on the situation of human rights and fundamental freedoms of indigenous people. Human Rights Council. Fifteenth Session. Agenda Item 3: Promotion and protection of all human rights, civil, political, economic, social and cultural rights, including the right to development. Available from: http://unsr.jamesanaya.org/cases-2010/cases-examined-2009-2010-full-report.
- 64. Briend, A. (1 June 2012). Use of MUAC for Severe Acute Malnutrition. CMAM Forum FAQ. 1 June 2012. Available from: <u>http://www.cmamforum.org/Pool/Resources/FAQ-1-Use-of-MUAC-Briend-Eng-June-2012(1).pdf</u>.
- 65. Jenike MR. Variation in body fat and muscle mass: responses to seasonal hunger among tropical horticulturists, Zaire. Ecol Food Nutr. 1995;34:227–249.
- 66. De Souza RG. Body size and growth: the significance of chronic malnutrition among the Casiguran Agta. Ann Hum Biol. 2006;33:604–619.
- 67. Adhikari A, Sen A, Brumbaugh RC, Schwartz J. Altered growth patterns of a mountain Ok population of Papua New Guinea over 25 years of change. Am J Hum Biol. 2011;23:325–332.
- 68. Tarasuk, V, Mitchell, A, Dachner, N. (2014). Household food insecurity in Canada, 2012. Toronto: Research to identify policy options to reduce food insecurity (PROOF).

- 69. Lee, J. S., Johnson, M. A., Brown, A., & Nord, M. (January 01, 2011). Food security of older adults requesting Older Americans Act Nutrition Program in Georgia can be validly measured using a short form of the U.S. Household Food Security Survey Module. The Journal of Nutrition, 141, 7, 1362-8.
- 70. Kaiser, L. L., Melgar-Quiñonez, H., Townsend, M. S., Nicholson, Y., Fujii, M. L., Martin, A. C., & Lamp, C. L. (2003). Food Insecurity and Food Supplies in Latino Households with Young Children. Journal of Nutrition Education and Behavior, 35(3), 148-153.
- Melgar-Quinonez, H. R., Zubieta, A. C., MkNelly, B., Nteziyaremye, A., Gerardo, M. F. D., & Dunford, C. (2006). Household food insecurity and food expenditure in Bolivia, Burkina Faso, and the Philippines. The Journal of nutrition, 136(5), 1431S-1437S.
- 72. Studdert, L. J., Frongillo, E. A., Jr., & Valois, P. (2001). Household food insecurity was prevalent in Java during Indonesia's economic crisis. J Nutr, 131(10), 2685-2691.
- 73. Rukundo, P. M., Andreassen, B. A., Kikafunda, J., Rukooko, B., Oshaug, A., & Iversen, P. O. (February 28, 2016). Household food insecurity and diet diversity after the major 2010 landslide disaster in Eastern Uganda: a cross-sectional survey. British Journal of Nutrition, 115, 4, 718-729.
- 74. Willows, N. D., Veugelers, P., Raine, K., & Kuhle, S. (2009). Prevalence and sociodemographic risk factors related to household food security in Aboriginal peoples in Canada. Public health nutrition, 12(08), 1150-1156.
- 75. Patterson, K. (2015). Prevalence, determinants and seasonal variation of food security among the Batwa of Kanungu District, Uganda.
- 76. Patterson, K., Berrang-Ford, L., Lwasa, S., Namanya, D. B., Ford, J., Twebaze, F., Clark, S., Harper, S. L. (January 13, 2017). Seasonal variation of food security among the Batwa of Kanungu, Uganda. Public Health Nutrition, 20, 1, 1-11.
- 77. Harrison, Gail G., Ame Stormer, Dena R. Herman and Donna M. Winham. 2003."Development of a Spanish-Language Version of the U.S. Household Food Security Survey Module," Journal of Nutrition 133:1192-1197.
- 78. Pérez-Escamilla, R., Segall-Corrêa, A. M., Kurdian, M. L., Sampaio, M. M. F., Marín-León, L., & Panigassi, G. (January 01, 2004). An adapted version of the U.S. Department of Agriculture Food Insecurity module is a valid tool for assessing household food insecurity in Campinas, Brazil. The Journal of Nutrition, 134, 8, 1923-8.
- 79. Opsomer, J. D., Jensen, H. H., & Pan, S. (January 01, 2003). An evaluation of the U.S. Department of Agriculture food security measure with generalized linear mixed models. The Journal of Nutrition, 133, 2, 421-7.
- 80. Rodrigues VC, Rao RS, Lena A. Utility of arm circumference as a screening instrument to identify women at nutritional risk. Trop Doct. 1994;24:164.

- Hakewill PA, Moren A. Monitoring and evaluation of relief programmes. Trop Doct. 1991;21:24–28.
- 82. Olukoya AA. Identification of underweight women by measurement of the arm circumference. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 1990; 31:231–235.
- 83. Collins S. Using middle upper arm circumference to assess severe adult malnutrition during famine. JAMA. 1996;276:391–395.
- 84. James WP, Mascie-Taylor GC, Norgan NG, Bistrian BR, Shetty PS, Ferro-Luzzi A. The value of arm circumference measurements in assessing chronic energy deficiency in Third World adults. Eur J Clin Nutr. 1994; 48:883.
- 85. Tang, A., Dong, K., Deitchler, M., Chung, M., Maalouf-manasseh, Z., Tumilowicz, A., Wanke, C. (2013). Use of Cutoffs for Mid-Upper Arm Circumference (MUAC) as an Indicator or Predictor of Nutritional and Helath-Related Outcomes in Adolescents and Adults: A SyStematic Review. Food and Nutiriton Technical Assistance. USAID.
- 86. Lewnard, J. A., Berrang-Ford, L., Lwasa, S., Namanya, D. B., Patterson, K. A., Donnelly, B., Kulkarni, M. A., ... Indigenous Health Adaptation to Climate Change Research Team 2013. (January 01, 2014). Relative undernourishment and food insecurity associations with Plasmodium falciparum among Batwa pygmies in Uganda: evidence from a crosssectional survey. The American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene, 91, 1, 39-49.
- 87. Tukey, J. W. 1977. Exploratory Data Analysis. Reading, MA: Addison–Wesley.
- 88. World Health Organization. (2000). The management of nutrition in major emergencies. Geneva: World Health Organization.
- 89. Balen J, McManus DP, Li Y-S, Zhao Z-Y, Yuan L-P, Utzinger J, et al. Comparison of two approaches for measuring household wealth via an asset-based index in rural and periurban settings of Hunan province, China. Emerg Themes Epidemiol. 2010 Jan;7(1):7.
- 90. Subramanian, S., Jones, K. and Duncan, C. (2003). Multilevel methods for public health research. Neighborhoods and Health. New York: Oxford University Press.
- 91. Subramanian, S. V., Chen, J. T., Rehkopf, D. H., Waterman, P. D., & Krieger, N. (January 01, 2005). Racial disparities in context: a multilevel analysis of neighborhood variations in poverty and excess mortality among black populations in Massachusetts. American Journal of Public Health, 95, 2, 260-5.
- 92. Subramanian, S. V., Jones, K., Kaddour, A., & Krieger, N. (January 01, 2009). Revisiting Robinson: The perils of individualistic and ecologic fallacy. International Journal of Epidemiology, 38, 2, 342-360.

- 93. Burnham, K. P.; Anderson, D. R. (2002), Model Selection and Multimodel Inference: A Practical Information-Theoretic Approach (2nd ed.), Springer-Verlag, ISBN 0-387-95364-7
- 94. UN Economic and Social Council (ECOSOC), Report on the Inter-Agency Support Group on Indigenous Peoples' Issues annual meeting for 2014, 6 February 2015, E/C.19/2015/7
- 95. McDonald, E. L., Bailie, R. S., Rumbold, A. R., Morris, P. S., & Paterson, B. A. (January 01, 2008). Preventing growth faltering among Australian Indigenous children: implications for policy and practice. The Medical Journal of Australia, 188, 8, 84-6.
- 96. Schaible, U. E., & Kaufmann, S. H. E. (2007). Malnutrition and Infection: Complex Mechanisms and Global Impacts. PLoS Medicine, 4(5), e115. <u>http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.0040115</u>
- 97. United Nations Permanent Forum on Indigenous Issues. FACTSHEET: Who are indigenous peoples? Enquires to Oisika Chakrabarti (mediainfo@un.org). Available from: <u>http://www.un.org/esa/socdev/unpfii/documents/5session_factsheet1.pdf</u>
- 98. International Work Group for Indigenous Affairs. Indigenous peoples in Africa a general overview. Available from: <u>http://www.iwgia.org/regions/africa/indigenous-peoples-in-africa</u>
- 99. Mamdani, M. (2012). Define and Rule: Native as Political Identity. Cambridge, Mass: Harvard University Press.
- 100. UN News Centre. "New Congolese law 'significant step for indigenous rights UN expert." Available from: <u>http://www.un.org/apps/news/story.asp?NewsID=37223&Cr=indigenous&Cr1#.WL nKZDvyuUl.</u>
- 101. CDH Observatoire congolais des droits de l'homme. (July 2004). The Situation of the Pygmies in the Republic of Congo. Available from: <u>www.rainforestfoundationuk.org/files/OCDH%20Rpt%201%20%28English%29%20v.2.</u> <u>pdf</u>
- 102. D Jackson. (2003). Twa women, Twa rights in the Great Lakes region of Africa, Minority Rights Group International, London.
- 103. Human Rights Watch. (2003). Ituri: Covered in blood. Ethnically targeted violence in northeastern DR Congo. Vol 15, no 11. Available from: <u>http://hrw.org/reports/2003/ituri0703/</u>
- 104. Barume, A. K. (2010). Land rights of indigenous peoples in Africa: With special focus on Central, Eastern and Southern Africa. Copenhagen: International Work Group for Indigenous Affairs.

- 105. Werner, Z., & Manuela, Z.-M. (January 01, 2007). Lost in Transition? The Politics of Conservation, Indigenous Land Rights and Community-Based Resource Management in Southern Africa. The Journal of Legal Pluralism and Unofficial Law, 39, 55, 37-71.
- 106. United Organization for Batwa Development in Uganda (UOBDU). (2014). The Right of Indigenous Batwa Peoples to Land and Natural Resources in Uganda – A statement submitted to the Human Rights council. Available from: <u>https://uobdu.wordpress.com/2014/05/27/the-right-of-indigenous-batwa-peoples-to-land-</u> and-natural-resources-in-uganda-a-statement-submitted-to-the-human-rights-council/.
- 107. Harrisberg, K. (2014). "Uganda's Batwa, and conservation's double-edged sword." Daily Maverick Online. Available from: <u>https://www.dailymaverick.co.za/article/2014-09-16-ugandas-batwa-and-the-conservations-double-edged-sword/#.WLnOijvyuUk</u>
- 108. Mukasa, Norman. (2014). The Batwa Indigenous People of Uganda and Their Traditional Forest Land: Eviction, Non-Collaboration, and Unflfilled Needs." Indigenous Policy Journal. Vol 24 No 4. Available from: <u>http://www.indigenouspolicy.org/index.php/ipj/article/view/230/226</u>
- 109. Ecole d'été de probabilités de Saint-Flour, Dembo, A., Funaki, T., & Picard, J. (2005). Lectures on probability theory and statistics: Ecole d'Eté de Probabilités de Saint-Flour XXXIII-2003. Berlin: Springer.
- 110. Walker, R., Gurven, M., Hill, K., Migliano, A., Chagnon, N., De, S. R., Djurovic, G., ... Yamauchi, T. (January 01, 2006). Growth rates and life histories in twenty-two smallscale societies. *American Journal of Human Biology : the Official Journal of the Human Biology Council, 18, 3.*)
- 111. Migliano, A. B., Vinicius, L., & Lahr, M. M. (January 01, 2007). Life history trade-offs explain the evolution of human pygmies. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 104, 51, 20216-9.
- 112 de Koppel JMH, Hewllett BA. In: African Pygmies. Cavalli-Sforza LL, editor. Orlando, FL: Academic; 1986. pp. 103–123.
- 113. Cavalli-Sforza, L.L. (1986) African pygmies: an evaluation of the state of research. In African Pygmies (Cavalli-Sforza, L.L., ed.), pp. 361–426, Academic Press
- 114. Diamond, J. M. (January 01, 1991). Anthropology. Why are pygmies small?. *Nature*, *354*, 6349, 111-2.
- 115. Kaplan, H., Hill, K., Lancaster, J., & Hurtado, A. M. (January 01, 2000). A theory of human life history evolution: Diet, intelligence, and longevity. *Evolutionary Anthropology: Issues, News, and Reviews, 9*, 4, 156-185.

- 116. Destro-Bisol, G. et al. (2004) The analysis of variation of mtDNA hypervariable region 1 suggests that eastern and western pygmies diverged before the Bantu expansion. Am. Nat. 163, 212–226 ;
- 117. Quintana-Murci, L. et al. (2008) Maternal traces of deep common ancestry and asymmetric gene flow between pygmy hunter- gatherers and Bantu-speaking farmers. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 105, 1596–1601
- 118. Perry, G. H., Foll, M., Grenier, J.-C., Patin, E., Ned´elec´, Y., Pacis, A., Barakatt, M., Gravel, S., Zhou, X., Nsobya, S.L., Excoffier, L., Quintana-Murci, L, Dominy, N.J. & Barreiro, L.B. (2014). Adaptive, convergent origins of the Pygmy phenotype in African rainforest hunter-gatherers. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 111, E3596–E3603.
- 119. Becker, N. S. A., Verdu, P., Froment, A., Le Bomin, S., Pagezy, H., Bahuchet, S. & Heyer, E. (2011). Indirect evidence for the genetic determination of short stature in African Pygmies. American Journal of Physical Anthropology 145, 390–401.
- 120. Perry, G. H., Foll, M., Grenier, J. C., Patin, E., Nédélec, Y., Pacis, A., Barakatt, M., ... Barreiro, L. B. (January 01, 2014). Adaptive, convergent origins of the pygmy phenotype in African rainforest hunter-gatherers. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* of the United States of America, 111, 35, 3596-603.
- 121. Lillie-Blanton, M., & Laveist, T. (January 01, 1996). Race/ethnicity, the social environment, and health. Social Science & Medicine, 43, 1, 83-91.
- 122. Williams, D. R. (January 01, 2002). Racial/ethnic variations in women's health: the social embeddedness of health. American Journal of Public Health, 92, 4, 588-97.
- 123. Williams, D. R., Neighbors, H. W., & Jackson, J. S. (January 01, 2008). Racial/Ethnic Discrimination and Health: Findings From Community Studies. American Journal of Public Health, 98, 9.)
- 124. Richardson, L. D., & Norris, M. (March 01, 2010). Access to Health and Health Care: How Race and Ethnicity Matter. Mount Sinai Journal of Medicine: a Journal of Translational and Personalized Medicine, 77, 2, 166-177.
- 125. Ingleby, D. (December 01, 2012). Ethnicity, Migration and the 'Social Determinants of Health' Agenda. Psychosocial Intervention, 21, 3, 331-341.
- 126. Blane, D. (January 01, 1995). Social determinants of health--socioeconomic status, social class, and ethnicity. American Journal of Public Health, 85, 7, 903-5.
- 127. Walker, R. J., Strom, W. J., & Egede, L. E. (January 01, 2016). Influence of Race, Ethnicity and Social Determinants of Health on Diabetes Outcomes. The American Journal of the Medical Sciences, 351, 4, 366-73.

- 128. Johnson J. and Hall E. Social support in the work environment and cardiovascular disease. In Social Support and Cardiovascular Disease (Edited by Shumaker S. and Czajkowski S.). Plenum Press, New York, 1994.
- 129. Robinson J. (1985) Racial and occupational health in the United States: The effects of job discrimination. Int. J. hlth Serv. 15, 23.
- 130. Bullard R. and Wright B. (1987) Environmentalism and the politics of equity: emergent trends in the black community. Mid-Am. Rev Sociol. 12, 21.
- 131. Pappas G., Queen S., Hadden W. and Fisher G. 0993) The increasing disparity in mortality between socioeconomic groups in the U.S., 1960 and 1986. N. Engl. J. Med. 329, 103.
- 132. Bassett M. and Krieger N. (1986) Social class and black-white differences in breast cancer survival. Am. J. publ. HIth 76, 1400.
- 133. Caiola, C., Docherty, S. L., Relf, M., & Barroso, J. (January 01, 2014). Using an intersectional approach to study the impact of social determinants of health for African American mothers living with HIV. Ans. Advances in Nursing Science, 37, 4.)
- 134. Lopez, N., Gadsden, V. (2016). Health Inequities, Social Determinants, and Intersectionality. National Academy of Sciences Discussion Paper. Perspectives: Expert Voices in Health and Health Care.
- 135. Hankivsky, O., & Christoffersen, A. (January 01, 2008). Intersectionality and the determinants of health: a Canadian perspective. Critical Public Health, 18, 3, 271-283.
- 136. Simon, R.I. and Eppert, C. (1997). Remembering obligation: pedagogy and the witnessing of testimony of historical trauma. Canadian Journal of Education, 22(2) 175.
- 137. Kabwegyere, T. B. (1974). The politics of state formation: The nature and effects of colonialism in Uganda. Nairobi: East African Literature Bureau.
- 138. Reid, A. (July 01, 2016). CONSTRUCTING HISTORY IN UGANDA. Journal of African History, 57, 2, 195-207.
- 139. Galabuzi, G. (2004). Social Exclusion. In Raphael, D. (Ed.), Social Determinants of Health: Canadian Perspectives. Toronto, ON: Canadian Scholars' Press Inc., 235–252.
- 140. Johansen, B. E. (2003). Indigenous peoples and environmental issues: An encyclopedia. Westport, Conn: Greenwood Press.
- 141. In Laidlaw, Z., & In Lester, A. (2015). Indigenous communities and settler colonialism: Land holding, loss and survival in an interconnected world.

- 142. Galaty, J. (1998). Losing Ground: Indigenous Rights and Recourse Across Africa. Cultural Survival Quarterly Magazine. Issue 22 Vol 4. Available from: <u>https://www.culturalsurvival.org/publications/cultural-survival-quarterly/losing-ground-indigenous-rights-and-recourse-across-africa</u>
- 143. See "gazetting instruments", The Uganda Wildlife (Declaration of Wildlife Conservation Area) (Bwindi Impenetrable National Park) Instrument, 2003 43
- 144. The Uganda Wildlife (Declaration of Wildlife Conservation Area) (Mgahinga Gorilla National Park) Instrument, 2003 45.
- 145. Smedley, B. D., Stith, A. Y., Nelson, A. R., & Institute of Medicine (U.S.). (2003). Unequal treatment: Confronting racial and ethnic disparities in health care. Washington, D.C: National Academy Press.
- 146. Fiscella, K., Franks, P., Gold, M. R., & Clancy, C. M. (January 01, 2000). Inequality in quality: addressing socioeconomic, racial, and ethnic disparities in health care. Jama, 283, 19, 2579-84.
- 147. Rwubaka, J. (2005). "Batwa: We Face Discrimination." Underrepresented Nations and Peoples Organization. Available from: <u>http://unpo.org/article/3234</u>
- 148. Freire, W., & Larrea, C. (June 01, 2002). Social inequality and child malnutrition in four Andean countries. *Revista Panamericana De Salud Pública, 11,* 356-364.
- 149. Dinachandra, S. K., Alagarajan, M., & Ladusingh, L. (January 01, 2015). What Explains Child Malnutrition of Indigenous People of Northeast India?. *Plos One, 10,* 6.)

APPENDIX A: Multilevel logit regression results for MAM outcomes

 $Multilevel \ logit \ results \ - \ MAM \ (Odds \ Ratio, CI, \ p-value \ in \ stars, \ ** = 90\% \ and \ * \ at \ 95\%) \ (predicting \ MAM, \ v1)$

Model name (description)	IND + HH + COMM (No controls)	IND + HH + COMM	IND + HH + COMM + ETHNICITY (No controls)	IND + HH + COMM + ETHNICITY
Intercept/Constant	0.19 (0.006 - 0.053)	0.358 (0.010 - 0.118)	0.0138 (0.001 - 0.179)	0.018 (0.001 – 0.277)
Controls				
Age category <5 5-18 18-45 >45	Ref. 3.022 (1.48 – 6.13)* 3.568 (1.75 – 7.27)* 4.674 (2.18 – 10.00)*	Ref. 4.45 (1.77 – 11.20)* 4.51 (1.90 – 10.68)* 4.91 (2.03 – 11.85)*	Ref. 3.26 (1.65 – 6.42)* 4.00 (2.01 – 7.96)* 4.75 (2.298 – 9.85)*	Ref. 3.50 (1.48 – 8.24)* 3.83 (1.72 – 8.53)* 5.16 (2.24 – 11.91)*
Sex	1.16 (0.77 – 1.75)	1.08 (0.682 - 1.71)*	1.33 (0.904 – 1.96)	1.32 (0.863 – 2.04)
Number of dependents Max education category	-	1.02 (0.889 – 1.189)	-	0.970 (0.864 – 1.089)
-No formal schooling	-	Ref.	-	Ref.
-Primary incomplete -Primary complete or Above	-	0.517 (0.284 - 0.939)* 0.206 (0.038 - 1.11)**	-	0.609 (0.343 – 1.080)** 0.348 (0.069 – 1.756)
Wealth category -Least wealthy -Middle wealthy -Most wealthy	- -	Ref. 0.67 (0.360 – 1.25) 0.201 (0.090 – 0.446)*	- -	Ref. 1.72 (1.06 – 2.78)* 0.939 (0.499 – 1.769)
Clustering measurements				
Area level variance (S.E.) -Household -Community -Ethnicity	1.28 (0.638 – 2.595) 0.150 (0.024 – 0.902) -	1.921 (0.971 – 3.802) 0.269 (0.000 – 47.11) -	1.48e-40 (NA) 6.94e-34 3.04 (0.41 – 22.50)	0.0616 (0.000 – 74.728) 4.45^-15 (N.A.) 3.273 (0.442 – 24.227)
Median OR -Household -Community -Ethnicity	2.92 1.00	3.57 1.33	3.14e^-20 6.80e^17 4.50	0.640 1.72^-7 4.674
Interclass correlation coefficient -Household -Community -Ethnicity	0.63 0.04	0.368 0.075 -	0.00* (So small) 0.00* (So small) 0.577	0.018 1.35^-15 0.498
Model fit parameters				
AIC of model BIC of model	878.92 914.63	757.91 817.92	696.22 726.83	609.15 669.17

APPENDIX C: Multilevel logit results for SAM outcomes

Multilevel logit results - SAM (Odds Ratio, CI, p-value in stars, ** = 90% and * at 95%) (predicting MAM, v2)

Model name (description)	Individual variables (n=1,214)	IND + HH	IND + HH + COMM	IND + HH + COMM + ETHNICITY
Intercept/Constant	0.045 (0.020 - 0.099)	0.036 (0.011 - 0.119)	0.358 (0.010 - 0.118)	0.018 (0.001 - 0.277)
Independent variables				
Age category <5 5-18 18-45 >45	Ref. 2.88 (1.50 – 5.51)* 3.08 (1.60 – 5.94)* 3.74 (1.88 – 7.43)*	Ref. 4.46 (1.77 – 11.22)* 4.50 (1.90 – 10.67)* 4.89 (2.03 – 11.78)*	Ref. 4.45 (1.77 – 11.20)* 4.51 (1.90 – 10.68)* 4.91 (2.03 – 11.85)*	Ref. 3.50 (1.48 – 8.24)* 3.83 (1.72 – 8.53)* 5.16 (2.24 – 11.91)*
Sex	1.09 (1.88 – 7.43)	1.08 (0.681 – 1.716)	1.08 (0.682 - 1.71)*	1.32 (0.863 – 2.04)
Number of dependents	-	1.02 (0.888 – 1.189)	1.02 (0.889 – 1.189)	0.970 (0.864 - 1.089)
Max education category -No formal	-	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.
-Primary incomplete -Primary complete or Above	-	0.515 (0.283 – 0.935)* 0.206 (0.038 – 1.11)**	0.517 (0.284 – 0.939)* 0.206 (0.038 – 1.11)**	0.609 (0.343 - 1.080)** 0.348 (0.069 - 1.756)
Wealth category -Least wealthy -Middle wealthy -Most wealthy	- -	Ref. 0.66 (0.367 – 01.217) 0.196 (0.089 – 0.428)*	Ref. 0.67 (0.360 – 1.25) 0.201 (0.090 – 0.446)*	Ref. 1.72 (1.06 – 2.78)* 0.939 (0.499 – 1.769)
Clustering measurements				
Area level variance (S.E.) -Household -Community -Ethnicity	-	1.95 (1.00 – 3.81) - -	1.921 (0.971 – 3.802) 0.269 (0.000 – 47.11) -	0.0616 (0.000 – 74.728) 4.45^-15 (N.A.) 3.273 (0.442 – 24.227)
Median OR -Household -Community -Ethnicity	- -	3.60 - -	3.57 1.33	0.640 1.72^-7 4.674
Interclass correlation coefficient		0.272	0.268	0.018
-Household -Community	-	-	0.075	1.35^-15
-Ethnicity	-	-	-	0.498
Model fit parameters				
AIC of model BIC of model	901.92 927.43	755.99 811.00	757.91 817.92	609.15 669.17

APPENDIX D. Smoothed MUAC Percentile OLS regression results (variables of interest)

Table C. Results for univariate OLS regressions between smoothed MUAC percentile and different variables of interest (Odds Ratio, CI, p-value in stars, ** = 90% and * at 95%)

9370)				
Variable Name	Entire population	Children (<18)	Adult Males	Adult females
Ethnicity (Ref. = Bakiga)	27.17 (14.15 – 52.14)*	13.20 (5.92 - 29.41)*	42.29 (5.63 - 317.50)*	84.48 (20.22 - 352.91)*
AVPS	1.01 (0.973 - 1.048)	1.00 (0.945 - 1.060)	1.028 (0.936 - 1.129)	1.024 (0.966 – 1.085)
Dependents	1.07 (0.980 - 1.17)	0.943 (0.816 - 1.090)	1.035 (0.859 – 1.247)	1.244 (1.070 – 1.445)*
Education category No schooling Primary incomplete Primary complete or higher	Ref. 0.817 (0.568 – 1.175) 0.229 (0.054 – 0.970)*	Ref. 1.96 (1.04 – 3.72)* 0.791 (0.097 – 6.427)	Ref. 0.462 (0.189 – 1.126)** 0.206 (0.024 – 1.754)	Ref. 0.464 (0.256 – 0.843) Omitted.
Wealth Least wealthy Middle wealthy Most wealthy	Ref. 0.796 (0.551 – 1.15) 0.258 (0.156 – 0.428)*	Ref. 0.968 (0.557 – 1.683) 0.237 (0.1016 – 0.5527)*	Ref. 0.461 (0.191 – 1.110)** 0.165 (0.051 – 0.526)*	Ref. 0.783 (0.424 – 1.446) 0.324 (0.151 – 0.695)*
Alcohol	3.62 (1.87 - 7.01)*	-	1.99 (0.533 - 6.31)	5.58 (2.42 - 12.87)*
Land ownership	0.993 (0.701 – 1.406)	1.00 (0.591 - 1.713)	0.932 (0.416 - 2.085)	0.967 (0.544 - 1.718)
Bednet use	0.193 (0.026 - 1.427)	0.357 (0.468 – 2.727)	Omitted.	Omitted.
Land Quality Flat Mixed Hilly	Ref. 0.675 (0.452 - 1.010)** 0.905 (0.560 - 1.462)	Ref. 0.626 (0.343 – 1.143) 0.749 (0.359 – 1.562)	Ref. 0.542 (0.237 – 1.736) 1.389 (0.477 – 4.049)	Ref. 0.754 (0.388 – 1.468) 0.986 (0.433 – 2.244)

APPENDIX E: Logit MAM status regression results (variables of interest)

Table D. Results for univariate logit regressions between MAM status and different variables of interest (coefficient, CI, p-value in stars, ** = 90% and * at 95%)				
Variable Name	Entire population	Children (<18)	Adult Males	Adult females
Ethnicity (Ref. = Bakiga)	-33.06 (-34.5631.56)*	-27.33 (-28.8125.85)*	-32.21 (-36.4228.00)**	-50.67 (-55.7145.63)*
AVPS	-0.183 (-0.44 - 0.077)	0.036 (-0.255 - 0.328)	-0.047 (-0.750 - 0.656)	-0.421 (-1.16 - 0.321)
Dependents	-0.151 (-0.789 – 0.486)	0.274 (-0.442 - 0.991)	-0.622 (-2.10 - 0.863)	-1.26 (-3.20 – 0.67)
Education category No schooling Primary incomplete Primary complete or higher	Ref. 2.05 (-0.55 – 4.66) 11.3 (5.37 – 17.39)*	Ref. -3.56 (-6.440.677)* 4.23 (-3.79 - 12.25)	Ref. 6.79 (-0.88 – 14.48)** 14.10 (1.69 – 26.51)*	Ref. 13.82 (6.52 – 21.12)* 21.52 (5.52 – 37.52)*
Wealth Least wealthy Middle wealthy Most wealthy	Ref. 9.24 (6.54 – 11.96)* 17.41 (14.68 – 20.15)*	Ref. 7.30 (4.40 – 10.20)** 14.98 (12.02 – 17.94)**	Ref. 10.73 (3.54 – 17.93)* 18.42 (11.24 – 25.59)**	Ref. 13.51 (5.38 – 21.63)* 27.05 (19.04 – 35.07)*
Alcohol	-10.04 (-15.244.83)*	-	-3.76 (-11.15 - 3.63)	-20.95 (-31.6810.21)*
Land ownership	1.90 (-0.56 - 4.36)	2.377 (-0.293 - 5.049)**	2.71 (-3.66 - 9.10)	2.34 (-5.02 - 9.71)
Bednet use	14.59 (8.05 – 21.13)*	13.56 (6.76 – 20.36)*	16.23 (-2.96 - 35.42)**	28.43 (5.64 - 51.22)*
Land Quality Flat Mixed Hilly	Ref. 3.21 (0.240 - 6.18)** 2.70 (-0.926 - 6.34)	Ref. 3.94 (0.732 – 7.155)* 2.88 (-1.02 – 6.80)	Ref. 0.679 (-7.18 – 8.54) 1.332 (-7.97 – 10.63)	Ref. 7.74 (-1.06 – 16.55)** 10.55 (-0.684 – 21.79)**

Community	Average percentile [95% CI] for smoothed MUAC	N (1,250)
1	48.32 [45.25 - 51.40]	122
2	56.03 [53.15 - 58.92]	159
3	43.96 [38.77 – 49.14]	113
4	53.65 [49.78 - 57.51]	125
5	48.35 [45.04 - 51.66]	130
6	47.08 [42.87 - 51.28]	130
7	46.97 [43.94 – 49.99]	144
8	41.72 [38.26 – 45.18]	128
9	51.17 [47.09 - 55.24]	96
10	64.27 [61.51 - 67.03]	103

APPENDIX F: MUAC Average by community